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1 

2 aftBOft BIIOOD, XI, Mother ' a Kitchen, Ltd. , 

3 Post Office Box 1363 , Sanford, Florida 32772, 

4 appearinq tor Mother ' • Xitohen, videooontereneing from 

5 the Zora Neal Huraton Buildinq in Orlando, Florida . 

6 ~~~ o. w. OOWD .. Y, Gatlin, Schiefelbein 

7 and Cowdery, 3301 Thoma.ville Road , Suite 300, 

8 Tallahassee, Floridu 32312, appearinq on behalf of 

9 Florida Public Utili tiea Coapany, videoconterencinq 

10 from the Zora Neal Hurston Buildinq in Orlando, 

11 Florida. 

12 WXLLJaM COCBaaW aa&~x.G, XV , Legal Division, 

13 Florida Publi c Service eo .. iaaion, 2540 Shuaard Oak 

14 Bouleva rd, Ta llahaaaae, Fl orida 32399, appeari ng on 

15 behalf of the Publi c Servi ce Co.missi on, present i n 

16 Tallahassee. 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 
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(Bearing convened at 1:00 p.a.) 
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1 

2 

3 IJ'III COUll!' a Good afternoon. Can you hear me 

4 Ms. Cowdery? Yea. Okay? All right. can you apeak? 

5 I can't hear you? There' a no aound coainq. Okay. 

6 Let - aee vhat I can do here. Okay. Waa 

7 the technician in the rooa to turn on the aquipaent 

8 when you arrived? 

9 ... oo.DDYI (Shaua bead.) 

10 .,.. COU'R21 No. Okay. I'm going to have to 

11 go find soaebody who knowa bow to operate this ayatem 

12 a little better ao give ua a tew 11inutes. 

13 (Brief recess taken . ) 

14 !'D COUJtlf I Let's go on the record. This is 

15 a continuation of a formal hearing before the Division 

16 of Administrative Hearings in the matter ot the 

17 Mother's Kitchen, Limited versus Florida PUbli c 

18 Utilities Company, Respondent, and the Public Service 

19 Commission, Intervenor, DOAH case 97-4990. 

20 I'm Daniel M. Kilbride, the administrative 

21 law judge on this matter . And tor the record would 

22 you i dentity yourself, representing the Petitioner . 

23 D. BJtOOU& i'or the Petitioner, Anthony 

24 Brooks, Eddie Hodges and Arthur Brooke. 

25 TB» coua~a And they are present in the 
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1 hearing room with you in Orlando? 

2 Ka. aaDOial Yea, air, they are. Yes, sir, 

3 they are. 

4 !'D COfttrl For tho reapondent? 

5 ... COWDaaYc Yea. For Florida Public 

6 Utili ties company, Kathryn Cowdery, Gatlin 

7 Schiefelbein and Cowdery, and Mr. Darryl Troy is the 

8 corporate representative. 

9 ~ CO~a And as I indicated, Mr. William 

10 Keating. 

11 KR. ...~x.oa Cochran Reating for the 

12 Florida Public Service co .. iaaion. 

13 !'D COfttra All right. This matter was 
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14 adjourned at the last session, and with the Respondent 

15 putting on your case. Are you ready to call your next 

16 witness? 

17 MS. OOWDBRY: I am. I'd first like to 

18 invoke, again, the rule of aequestration of witnesses 

19 in the event that either Mr. Hodges or Mr. Arthur 

20 Brooks are intended to be called as rebuttal 

21 witnesses -- or one of them -- aomebody was staying 

22 with Mr. Brooks, Arthur waa. But if Mr. Hodges is 

23 going to be called again, I would like him to be 

24 sequestered . 

25 '1'BII coon: Mr. Brooks, do you ••• any 
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1 possibility tb.at Mr. Hodges would be called as a 

2 rebuttal witneaa? What I mean by that --

3 

4 

5 

6 sir. 

7 

D . BltOOU I Not -­

,_. COUJlll'l Pardon? 

D. BIIOOUa Not at this t i me, sir. No, 

U. COWDDYI Okay. 
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8 'I'D C01JJl!'a All ri9ht. Then I don't believe 

9 it's neceaaary. 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 witness. 

15 

... COWDUYa All right. 

'1'D COURI'I Any other preliminary matters? ... com•aYa No, air . 

'fD CODatfl All riqht. Then call your next 

u. COWDUYt Well, next I'd like to go 

16 ahead and introduce the deposition ot Dennis Kramsky 

17 into the record . Pursuant to the prehearing 

18 stipulation, the parties agreed to use his deposition . 

19 I also, because ot the tact that this 

20 hearing was split from last time, contacted --

21 actually the company contacted Mr. Kramaky to tind out 

22 his availability tor today. He is in San Juan, Puerto 

23 Rico. I have an affidavit ot Mr. Kramaky to that 

24 effect, so tor the record I'd like to introduce his 

25 affidavit which does abow that he is out ot the 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

country today. 

'fD COUHI All riqbt. You're ready to 

proceed nevertheless? Oh, I see. ... COWDDYI Oh, yes, I want to 

introo'.lce 

'fD COUHa The deposition instead. 

u. COWDDYa If it's appropriate at this 

8 time, I'd like to put bia deposition into the record, 

9 or as an exhibit, however you handle that. 

10 !'1111 COOJl'l' I Yea. Okay. You did torwar<S a 

11 copy of the deposition? 

12 U. COWDDYI Yea. I had sent over to your 
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13 secretary a packaqe of information, and I believe that 

1~ both the 

15 each are 

16 

17 

18 so --

19 

20 packaqe. 

21 

22 

23 first. 

24 

25 

affidavit and the deposition, two copies ot 

in that packaqe. 

!'1111 COOJl'l'l Okay. 

118. COWDDYI I do want to exclude somethinq 

'I'D COUa'l'z Yes, I have received the 

118. COWDaRYI Okay. Deponent's Exhibit B. 

TBII COURTs Let's deal with Mr . Kra.mt~ky 

118. COWDaaY: Ric,Jht. 

'1'BB OOVR'l': All riqht. I have a copy ot the 
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1 depoaition of Dennia Oino Kraaaky taken on Tueaday, 

2 February 17th, 1998. 

3 u. OOWDDYa Yea, sir. There are two 

4 exhibit• attached thereto. 

5 ~ COOR!a I have an Exhibit A and an 

6 Exhibit B attached to the copy ot the depoaition. 

7 U. OOWDUYI Yea. Now, Exhibit B, I 

8 introduced tor the purpoae of anticipatory rebuttal, 

9 if you will, a inca Mr. Kraaaky waan 't qo.: .. u} to be 

10 here. Mr. Brooks did not addreas that letter so I 
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~1 have no need to introduce Exhibit B. My purpose waa 

12 to rebut anything which might be raiaed by Mr. Brooks. 

13 so I would like to exclude Deponent's Exhibit B from 

14 the record aa beinq unneceaaary. And there are 

15 certain linea of the trans cript which I would like to 

16 identity which go only to that deposition, which I 

17 would alao like to strike from the deposition. 

18 And that is on Page 11, Lines 4 through 25, 

19 and Paqe 12, Linea 1 through 3. Other than that, I 

20 would include everything alae. 

21 'I'D COft'l'a All riqht. Thank you. 

22 Mr. Brooks, tirat of all, any objection to 

23 the admiaaion of the depoaition of Dennia Kramaky in 

24 lieu of hi• taatiaony here today? 

25 a. aaooua Yes, air, I would have. At the 
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1 time that the parties agreed to Mr. JCraaaky' s 

2 deposition being used in lieu of actual teatiaony it 

3 was to aoca.aoc:Sate Mr. Kraaaky in a previously 

4 arranged trip that was supposed to concur with the 

5 date of the last hearing . 

355 

6 Nov, aince Mr. Kruaky -- since that date of 

7 the laot hearing# we have had an ample amount of time 

8 tor Mr. Kraaalcy obviously to return and then depart 

9 and go soaewhere else. Reapondent could have arranged 

10 for Mr. Kraa.alcy to be here today. 

11 I would also - - if the Court allows this, it 

12 the Court teals that it should allow this deposition 

13 in, I would also object to any deletions or --

14 deletions of entries on this deposition because the 

15 Petitione- bas already been placed in a position to 

16 whe.re Petitioner is denied its right to cross examine 

17 Mr. Kramslcy in the courtrooa, a a well as -- if 

18 Mr. Kramsky hadn't been present as a witness, 

19 Petitioner would have had Mr . Kramsky address certain 

20 exhibits and other items that were entered by both 

21 Respondent as well as Petitioner. 

22 So it the court deems it proper to allow the 

23 deposition in, then the Petitioner would also request 

24 that no deletions or changes be made to the 

25 deposition. 
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t'D COUfta All right. Response? 1 

2 ... COWDaaYa Your Honor, when we -- as s oon 

3 as we determined that we had a second hearing date 

4 lired up, I contacted the coapany contacted tor 

5 ae -- contacted Mr. Kraaa)Cy. Mr. KraJU)Cy already had 

6 plans tor PUerto Rico. And it ia ror this reason that 

7 I aecured hia affidavit to ahow that he will be, or he 

8 is, in PUerto Rico today ao I couldn't have him 

9 instead of a live witness . 

10 Secondly, at the time the whole reason his 

11 deposition was taken was because at that time I knew 

12 that be would not be available tor the Karen 4th 

13 hearing. I called the deposition tor that reason. 

14 Mr. Brooks agreed inforaally to uae Mr. Kramaky'a 

15 deposition at that time. He waa aware that when we 

16 were taking the deposition, at that time he had the 

17 opportunity to do any examination of Mr. Kramaky 

18 through cross examination that he wiahed. 

19 Again, I would point out that the deposition 

20 exhibit that I wiah to delete I gave to Mr. Kramaky 

21 and I asked him aome queationa about it in 

22 anticipatory rebuttal. But there's nothing tor him to 

23 rebut. There'• been nothing in the caae-in-chiet ot 

24 Petitioners which would aake it neceaaary. And I juat 

25 feel that it avoids contusion to leave it out at this 
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1 point. 

2 'I'D COD'f a Mr . Brooks, you were present t or 

3 the deposition, c orrect, ot Mr. J<raasky? 

4 

5 

a. aaooua Yea, air , I waa . 

'I'D COua-11 Okay. And at that time you knew 

6 you needed to ask all of the questions on croaa 

7 exa.ination becauae Mr. J<raaaky was not expected to 

8 attend the bearing: ian•t that correct? 

9 D. aiOOUI Yea, sir, I knew that . 

10 '1'D oouna Okay. All right. I'~! going to 

11 overrule your objection on the ad""ission , but on the 

12 request to exclude EXhibit B and to strike certain 

13 lines from Page 11 and Page 12, I'll sustain the 

14 objection. 

15 MS. cownaaYz That's tin~. 

16 'I'D COUJtll'a Okay. I •m going to admit the 

17 deposition as the next numbered exhibit tor Petitioner 

18 which --

19 

20 

M8. oownaaxa That would be Respondent • s 13. 

'1'JIB COUR'Ia Yes, that • s correct. So the 

21 deposition ot Dennis Oino Kramaky is admitted into 

22 evidence as Respondent's Exhibit 13. And the 

23 Affidavit ot Unavailability, any objection, 

24 Mr. Brooks? 

25 (Respondent's EXhibit 13 
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1 received into evidence.) 

2 

3 

4 

JOt. BIIOOUs I have not seen it, sir . 

U. COWDDY 1 Oh, I 'm sorry. 

JOt. aiiOOUI No prior knowledge that this 

5 affidavit existed prior to juat a taw minutes ago. 

6 (counsel hand a docUJDent to Mr. Brooks. ) 

7 

8 

~ COURta Do you have a copy now? 

lOt. 81100&11 Yea, sir. I do have a copy 

9 now. (Pause) 
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10 Sir, tbia letter would j uat serve to s upport 

11 what I aaid previously. In the body ot this thing 

12 he' s saying he 's going to be in San Juan trom April 1 

13 through April 3. So by virtue ot the tact him saying 

14 trom April 1 meant that he had time enough to alter 

15 this travel, and it he waa such an important witness 

16 to Respondent, Re~ondent had the responsibility to 

17 ensure that the witness ia present . I would reiterate 

18 my objection to this thing. 

19 TO COUll'!' 1 Okay. All right. Thank you. I 

20 understand. But I ' a overruling the objection. I will 

21 admit the affidavit, or a copy ot the affidavit into 

22 evidence aa Respondent's Exhibit 14 . 

23 (Respondent'• Exhibit 14 

24 received into evidence.) 

25 Ma. Cowdery, would you call your witneaa. 
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1 ... COWDIRYI I will call Mr. Darryl Troy. 

2 'I'D COVR!'t Kr. Troy, would you raise your 

3 right hand to be swom. 

4 - - -

5 DAUU. 'l'ltO~ 

6 was called aa a witneas on behalf of Florida Public 

7 Utilities Ca.pany and, having been duly sworn, 

8 testified as follows: 

9 D%UC'I IXU%D'1'%0X 

1 0 BY U. OOWDDY1 

11 Q Mr. Troy, please state your name and 

12 business addreaa tor the record. 

13 A Darryl Troy, 401 South Dixie Highway, West 

14 Palm Beach, Florida 33401. 

15 Q How many years have you worked with Florida 

16 Public Utilities Company? 

17 A 34 years. 

18 Q And what is your position with Florida 

19 Public Utilities Company? 

20 A Vice president. 

21 Q What are your responsibilities in that 

22 position? 

23 To oversee the activities ot the county and 

24 the cuatomer service Department. 

25 Q Okay. During the past 34 years how many 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

years of that time period have you had 

responsibilities with the company involving the 

requireaents of the Florida Public Service co .. ission? 

& Approximately 27 years. 

Q Do you have any professional degrees? 

I have a BBA from Florida Atlantic 

7 University with a major in accounting. 

8 Q Okay. During the past 34 years have you had 

9 any responsibilities with Florida Public Utilities 

10 Company involving the rules at issue in this case, 

11 that is Rules 25-7.0834 and 20-7.089? 

12 A Yes, I have. Being in charge of the 

13 customer Service Departments these rules fall into 

14 this area and I developed procedures -- implemented 

15 procedures in the area of these rules for the Customer 

16 Service Departments. 

17 Q 

18 involve? 

19 

20 

& 

0 

21 locations? 

22 

How many divisions of the company does this 

Four divis ions . 

Okay. Are these in different g~ographic 

23 Q Okay. And about how many years have you had 

24 these respona ibilities ? 

25 A Approximately seven yeara. 
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1 g Okay . Have you ever been qualified as an 

2 expert witness in PSC proceedings with regard to PSC 

3 rule requir .. enta? 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

A 

cases. 

Q 

.. 
case? 

Q 

A 

Q 

Yea, I have, in the area ot tiling ot rate 

Also the PGA dockets and tuel dockets. 

What ar PGA dockets? 

Purchased gas adjuataenta. 

Are yo~ familiar with the tacts ot this 

Yea, I a.m. 

Were you involved -- were you responsible 

~2 for handling the complaint before the Florida Public 

13 Service commission? 

14 

15 

.. 
Q 

Yes, I was. 

Okay. Mr. Troy, have you reviewed the 

16 exhibit liat which waa submitted in the prehearing 

17 statement in this case? 

18 .. Yes • 

19 Q Okay. Did you prepare tor this case an 

20 account SWDliAry ror the Petitioner's account in this 

21 case? 

22 .. Yes • I have a copy ot it here, which I can 

23 put on the stand. (Witness puts chart up on easel.) 

24 MS. COWD .. Y& I would like to have 

25 identified at this time the Account sumaary that was 
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1 listed in the Prehearinq Statement of Reapondent as 

2 No. 4. Do you have that, Your Honor? 

3 'I'D COOJl'l'l Yea. 

4 118. COWDDYa Okay . 

5 'I'D COUJll!z I have that in front ot ••· 

6 .... COWDDYa Okay. Could I have that 

7 identified, marked tor identification at this time? 

8 'I'D COURfa Yes. I'm qoinq to mark the 

9 document tor identification, as Reapondent•s Exhibit 

10 A. 

11 Q (By .. • cowctery) Mr. Troy, upon what 

12 documents did you baae the entries on this account 

13 S\lliDDa ry? 

362 

14 The entriea are baaed on different documents 

15 derived tr0111 the coapany recorda concerned in the 

16 Mother 's Kitchen account. This is the sUJIDilary of the 

17 Mother's Kitchen qas account tor the approximately six 

18 months that they were on. 

19 Q Okay. Now, with reqard to the company 

2~ documents that you uaed and the documents to aupport 

21 this aumaary, waa it the requ1ar practice ot Florida 

22 Public Utilitiea Company to keep these recorda in the 

23 course of ita busineaa? 

24 These are the reqular recorda ot the company 

25 in the courae of buainess. 
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1 Q Okay. Are you faailiar with the recor(is of 

2 regularly conducted business activity of the Plorioa 

3 Public Utilities Co•pany•a Sanford office? 

4 A Yea, I aa. 
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5 Q Are you faailiar with the computer qenerated 

6 records of the Florida Public Utilitie• Co•pany 

7 related to the Mother's Kitchen comaercial qaa 

8 account? 

9 Yea. 

10 Q Are you faailiar vith the way those recorda 

11 are kt.pt by Florida Public Utilities Coap"ny? 

12 

13 

A 

Q 

Yea. 

Okay. 

14 K8. cown•aYc I would like to have this 

15 summary identified as an exhibit and entered into the 

16 record. I think Respondent'• 15. 

17 '1'1111 COUil'J,'a Mr. Brooks, any objection? 

18 KR. BROO&ac Yea, air. I would object to 

19 the entry of this docuaent into the record. 

20 The document has a date on it ahowinq 

21 January 30th, 1998. Mr. Troy has entered several 

22 documents entitled "Chronoloqical SWDlllary, Sumaary of 

23 Account -- Su.aary of Account as well as two 

24 Chronological Summaries in the record in this case 

25 already, with different notations shown in different 
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l areas. This is a ooapletely 4itfer•nt referral to --

2 an4, in particular, references to the entry next to 

3 August 8th and -- I •m sorry, August 30th, and Auguat 

4 12th on this particular docuaent. 

5 Prior to the prehearing conference here we 

6 had in Tallahassee, no such -- thia document did not 

7 exiat in the record. Thia document was -- ahoved at 

8 ua at that particular hearing up there. 

9 M8. COWDaRY& Objection to the 

10 characterization. 

~l xa. BROOKS& Well, it was thrown across the 
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12 table at us at that particular hearing up there. This 

13 docuaent was not a part of the record prior to that 

14 time. 

15 Mr . Troy has entered several such documents 

16 already that are a part of the record. And if we're 

17 going to use anything tor an official summary of 

18 account, then if those particular summari~s that 

19 Mr. Troy has already entered are not utilized, then 

20 this particular document certainly should not be 

21 utilized. 

22 Furthermore, in Ms. Cowdery's lead in to 

23 this document, in response to what documents were used 

24 to create this particular exhibit , the anawer was 

25 different documents involving the Mother'• Kitchen 
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1 account. There's no clear -- there's no clear 

2 definition of exactly what document waa utilized. 

3 ~ COVH I Response? 

4 u. COWDDYa Mr. Brooks baa not offered a 

5 valid objection to this document. Mr. Troy haa 

6 testified that be prepared this document usinq various 

7 information that he had that he waa aware of, that 

8 were buaineaa documents ot the company. This document 

9 was identified on Respondent's exhibit list as Item 

10 No. 4. It waa provided to Mr. Brooks appropriately . 

~1 The witness is allowed to present a summary ot 

12 information and baa laid a proper foundation for its 

13 u.ae. 

14 !'Jill COOllAJ'a I •m qoinq to overrule the 

15 objection and adait the document. 

16 Mr. Brooks, as tar as this document is 

17 concerned, this is .an aid to the Judqe to -- in 

18 lookinq at the account, based on the Respondent'• view 

19 ot the evidence. So I understand there'• certain 

20 disputes aa to what happened between Auquat 12th and 

21 August 30th with some of the money. You've offered 

22 s ome ot your witnesses have offer ed different 

23 tes timony aa to what money was offered and what 

24 happened to it. But this is -- so I understand that, 

25 and this doesn't aake this an official document per 
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1 se, it'• to aaaiat ae from the Respondent's 

2 point ot view. 

3 So juat as a way ot explanation. So I'll 

4 admit ~~. docuaent in evidence as Respondent's Exhibit 

5 15. 

6 All right. Continue. 

7 (Respondent'• Exhibit 15 

s received into evidence.) 

9 0 (ay ... COW4ery) Mr. Troy, in qeneral, 

10 what does this document show? 

11 A It shows the -- aqain, like I said, it's the 

12 gas billing of Mo~er•s Kitchen tor the about 

13 six-month period. 

14 In the first two columns we see qas usaqe 

15 and the amount ot the bill. In the next column we 

16 show payments that came in throuqhout the six-month 

17 period. Next column there's any nonsutficient fund 

18 check return charges, return ot checks. It shows 

19 balances at various days throuqhout the lite ot the 

20 account, and there•• an explanation of the entries 

21 also included there. 

22 0 Okay. Is there a reason that you chose this 

23 format t or your account summary? 

24 A Yea. This format was used by the Public 

25 service comaisaion. The statt ot the Public service 
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1 Commiaaion aubaitted thia with their atatt 

2 recommendation to the commissioners, which they baaed 

3 their propoaed agency action on in I believe it waa 

4 September. 

5 Q Okay. Ia your exhibit here, Exhibit 15, is 

6 it identical to the account aummary which staff 

7 prepared? 

8 A It ia not identical to the staff summary. 

9 Q Okay. can you point out to ua any e=~ries 

10 which are different? 

11 A Yes, I can. We added a few entries on 

1:2 August 12th. The meter abut ott tor nonpayment --

13 excuse me; was Auqust 12th mailing address chanqe, 

14 1744 Airport Boulevard, and also the meter shut-ott 

15 f or nonpayment. First two August 12 entries. The 

16 August 13th entry, which was gas turned back on by 

17 T. Love. That's basically the entries t hat were 

18 added . 

19 Q Okay. Were there any changes that you can 

20 think of at the moment to amounts of money? 
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21 A Yeah. Staff had a typo error. on September 

22 19th, the 11075 which shows on my aummary, they had 

23 11025. It should be 11075 . 

24 Q Which column is that in? 

25 A That's in the bill column under September 
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1 19th. 11075; on their's said 11025. 

2 Q Is the balance column correct? 

3 & Yes. 

4 Q All riqht. Is there anythinq else you can 

5 think ot? 

6 I think there were two minor date chanqes . 

7 And also on May 23rd, there was an explanation ot a 

8 check aiqned by Arthur Brooks on their's, it was 

9 determined that was Anthony Brooks that siqned that 

10 check on May 23rd 

11 Q So that's on the May 23rd date. Is your 

12 entry correct to your knowledqe? 

13 & To my knowledqe that check was siqned by 

14 Anthony Brooka . 

15 

16 

Q Okay. All riqht. 

D. COWDDY& I have would like to have 

17 identified tor the record what is listed on 

18 Respondent'• Prehearinq Statement as Exhibit 7. It's 

19 a 4-22-96 Mother's Kitchen check, No. 1013. 

20 trD COUJttfa I '• qoinq to mark the document 

21 for identification as Respondent's Exhibit B. 

22 Q (By IU. COWdery) Okay? Mr. Troy, do you 

23 recoqnize this copy ot a check? 

24 & Yea, I do. 

25 Q What was this check t or? 
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1 This vas a payaent by Mother's Kitchen tor 

2 the original installation of the gas equipment at 

3 their location on March 22nd. 

4 Q Okay. Now, I want to refer you to another 

5 exhibit in this case, which is Respondent's Hearing 

6 Exhibit No. 1. Wait a minute. I've got a wrong 

7 number. (Pause) I'm eorry. Respondent'• No. 5, Job 

8 Work Contract dated 3-22-96. 

9 'I'D COUHs Juat a moment. 

10 u. COWDaJlTs Respondent' s Hearing 

~1 Exhibit No. 5. 

12 ~ COURTs I don't seem to have that at 

13 this time. 

14 U. COWDDYt Okay. 

15 ~ COURTs At least not the way it's 

16 marked, or you've indicated that it's marked. 
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17 MS. COWDaaTs Let ae double-check on my list 

18 here, sir. 

19 t'D COUHz Is this the billing registers? 

20 .a. COWDBRY: No. It's the actual hearing 

21 exhibit entered into the record at the March 4th 

22 hearing, and I've got it showing as Respondent's 

23 Hearing Exhibit S in my tile folder. 

24 1'IDI CO'Oftz Okay. I misunderstood what you 

25 were directing to. You're referring to the document 
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1 previously admitted as Respondent's 5. 

2 118. COWDDYI Yes. 

3 ~ COUR!a Job WorK. Contract tor 3-22-96. 

4 I have it in front of me now. 

5 Q (By .. • COwdery) Kr. Troy, did that checK. 

6 No. 1013, was that in pay.ent of the worK. done 

7 pursuant to Respondent's Exhibit 5 job order? 

8 A Yes, it was. 

9 Q O:k.ay. 

10 ... OOWDiaYa I would like to have 

1.1 Respondent's B entered into the record. 

12 '1'D COD!' 1 Any objection, Mr. Broo:k.s? 

13 

14 

JOt. aaooua No, sir. 

t'llll COOfta Without objection, the document 

15 previously marked for identification as Respondent B 

16 is admitted into evidence aa Respondent's Exhibit 16. 

17 118. COWDUYs Okay. 

18 (Reapondent•s Exhibit 16 

19 received into evidence.) 

20 Q (By .. • COWdery) Okay. Mr. Troy, I would 

21 l i :k.e to bave you look at a 4-23-96 bill stub in the 

22 amount of $126.59, and I would like to have that 

23 marked for identification. 

24 t'llll CO~a This ia in the folder you 

25 provided to me, Me. Cowdery? 
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1 Ma. COWDaa~z It's No. 8. 4-23-96 bill stub 

2 for $126.59. 

3 'I'D COUWI'I Yes, I have it now. And mark it 

4 for i e mtification as Reapondent•s c. 

5 Q (By Ka. COWdery) Mr. Troy, do you 

6 recoqnl.ze this bill stub? 

7 A Yea. 

8 Q I'm sorry. Do you recognize this document? 

9 A Yea, I do. This is the bill stub from the 

10 bill we aent to Mother's Kitchen on installing the 

11 merchandise that coat 126.59 . The date on the bill is 

12 3-31-96 and it waa paid on April 23rd, 1996. A check 

13 came with this to pay it. 

14 

15 

Q Okay. 

KS. COWDKRYa I would like to have that bill 

16 stub entered into the record as Exhibit 17. 

17 '1'D CODaTa Without objection I'll admit the 

18 document into evidence as Respondent's Exhibit 17. 

19 (Respondent's Exhibit 17 

20 received into evidence.) 

21 xa. COWD~a Now I'd like to have marked 

22 tor identification the billing registers. They are 

23 identified in a ~older with a number 5 on them. 

24 

25 

'I'D COmt'l'& Okay, I have that document. 

MI. OOWDaR~J Have it identified as 
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1 Respondent's D, I believe. 

2 

3 Q 

'I'D OOVH: Yes. 

(By lla. cow4ery) Mr. Troy, do you 

4 recoqnize these billinq registers? 

Yea, I do . 

What do they show? 

372 

5 

6 

7 

& 

0 

& These billinq reqisters show the information 

8 that was on the bill that went out to the customers . 

9 The billinq register date would be the date the bills 

10 were mailed. It would show who the bills were mailed 

11 to, what the account number was, how much was owed. 

12 There was one of these dated 4-3-96 which says 

13 merchandise bill and register, which was the 126 .95 we 

14 have been discussing. 

15 

16 

17 

18 

0 

A 

0 

A 

Is that t he first document in the stack? 

Yes, tha~•s the first document. 

Okay. 

Following that you have a series ot about 

19 seven ot them, one tor each month, which would be the 

20 gas billa that were rendered to the Alfred Byrd 

21 account d/b/ a Mother'• Xitchen, ahowing -- again, the 

22 data the billa are rendered are ahown at the top of 

23 the reqiater. The total bill, the current bill, any 

24 arrears is all shown on theae document•. 

25 0 Okay. Do these regiaters ahow where the 
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1 b i lls ware mailed? 

Yea, they do. They all show both the 2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

service addre••, and if there's a mailing addreaa that 

is different from the aervico address, it will s how 

under the "care of" NUDe , which is to the right . And 

looki ng at the 4-9 register, what 's called the bi lling 

register dated 4-9-96. 

Q That'• the aecond pa;e? 

A Second page. You'll see under "servic e 

10 address" at the top, 1744 Airport Boulevard. But 

11 under the "c are ot" name you'll see d/ b/ a Mot her' s 

12 Kitchen, P. o. Box 1 34, on what is ca lled the overflow 

13 addre~s; that becomes the mailing addres s . 

14 0 so on this month, to what address or what 

15 l ocat i on was the b i ll mai l e d? 

16 A The April bill would have been mailed to 

~7 P. o. Box 134. 

18 0 Okay. For the r est of these registers, 

19 would you please tell us where a bill was mailed? 

20 The May bill on the May 8th register s hows 

21 P . o. Box 134. June bill on June 7th register s hows 

22 P. o. Box 134. The July bill on the 7-9 register 

23 shows a P. o. Box 134. The Auquat bill on the 8-07 

24 register shows P. 0. Box 134. 

25 0 So when would that bill have been mailed i n 
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1 August? 

2 a The Auqust bill was aailed the same date 

3 that • s up there, At'gust the 7th. 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

1.1 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Okay. Q 

a The Septeaber bill, which was mailed 9-9 of 

'96, does not have the P.O. 134, so it went to the 

service address, 1744 Airport Boulevard. 

Q Okay. Does that aailing in Septeaber to the 

1744 Airport Boulevard a44r••• correapond to anything 

on your account su.aary? 

a Yes. our account auaaary shows on Auqust 

12th the aailinq address changed to 1744 Airport 

Boulevard per Anthony Brooks' request. 

Q Okay. Now, what about October, what does 

that show? 

The October bill, back on -- was mailed on 

10-9-96 referred it back to P. o. Box 134, back to the 

Alfred Byrd account. 

Q Why was that? 

a It waa tiled in Alfred Byrd's name. It was 

his responsibility. 

Q Okay. 

A And that ~as his P. o. Box trom what I 

understand. 

Q Okay. Is there anythinq on these billinq 
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1 registers that links up to the account au.aary 

2 regardinq billing dates or balances due? 

3 A Yea. The billing date ahould tie into the 

375 

4 date on the aumaary. The amount of the bill, both the 

5 current and the total bill will tie in also to the 

6 S\lllll1lar'Y • 

7 Q Okay. Anytbinq about arrearaqes, past due? 

8 A If there's arrears abown on the bill, it 

9 will also be shown on the balance there aa being past 

10 due. 

11 Q Okay. Mr. Troy, if anyone from Mother's 

12 Kitchen had qiven Florida Public Utilities money as a 

13 deposit to set up a new account, would it have 

14 qeneratec1 a new account on the billing reqiater 

15 similar to the April 9th, 1996, qas billinq reqiater 

16 in this exhibit? The second page? 

17 A Yea, it would have. 

18 Q Is there any such a~ditional account shown 

19 on the billing register? 

20 & There's no such additional account shown on 

21 the billinq reqiater. 

22 ... cowo•aYa I'd like to enter this 

23 document, billinq reqiater as Composite Exhibit 18. 

24 'I'D COlJH1 Any objection, Mr. Brooks? 

25 Ka. aaooaaa I've not seen the documenta. 

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 



1 KB. cowo•aYa Mr. Brooks, I sent you a 

2 coaplete copy of these docuaents after a prehearing 

3 conference. Just so I know, do you have those with 

4 you? 

5 D. altOOU 1 I have not •••n the docwaenta 

6 you're referring to. 

7 Me. cowo•aYa All right. For the record, I 
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8 submitted a complete set of these to Mr. Brooks, but I 

9 have copies to give him today. (Counsel hands 

10 documents to Mr. Brooks.) 

~1 KR. aaoous Yea, air, I do have an 

12 objection to these documents based solely upon, and 

13 tor one reason only: Mr. Troy stat•• that per these 

14 doc ~ts he was able to correspond a line on his 

15 au.mary where it shows address change requested by 

16 requested -- mailing address changed to 1744 Airport 

17 Boulevard per Anthony Brooks • request. There ' • 

18 nothing, ab~olutely nothing on these documents that 

19 shows any recor~ of such a request. And there 

20 ~ertainly isn 't anything on these documents that show 

21 that I ever requested such an entry. And if these 

22 documents are offered into the record as support tor 

23 that particular line on that sUIIJilary, they are 

24 therefore in error because they do not show such a 

25 notation a• Mr· Troy alludes to. It's an error . on 
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1 that one line there's absolutely nothing here to show 

2 that -- that would show why there would not be an 

3 error reqardinq any other line. 
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4 So I would object to these documents on that 

5 basis, unl••• Mr. Troy can show ae a code, or 

6 something on one ot these iteaa that's different than 

7 the other, which would indicate to him that by that 

8 particular code that Anthony Brooks requested anything 

9 of Florida Public Utilities. 

10 'I'D COUJr'l: Ms. Cowdery. 

1.1 u. COWDaaYs That • s not a proper objection 

12 to the document. Mr. Brooka appears to be disagreeing 

13 with what Mr. Troy testified to, which he can address 

14 on cross examination ot Mr. Troy. But his belief that 

15 this document is in error is not a proper objection 

16 for leaving it -- tor not admitting it. 

17 

18 

KR. aaoo&&s Sir, it I may? 

'1'BB COUJt'l' s Go ahead . 

19 KR. BaooKas Ms, Cowdery, in her questioning 

20 ot Mr. Troy, went to specific portions ot this 

21 document. And Mr. Troy, in response to Ms. Cowdery, 

22 alluded to the entry on thia line on his account 

23 &U1IIlllary document here. And he responded -- he 

24 responded by saying that the August 12 entry on this 

25 docuaent showed an address change per Anthony Brooks' 
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1 raquest. 

2 Now, like I said, unless there's a code on 

3 here that somehow let • s him know that , then I can 't 

4 see bow the entry ot this document, as a means to show 

5 that entrv on that tona, would be acceptable. 

6 'I'D coon a I • a going to overrule the 

7 objection. I think that's proper to inquir'! under 

8 croaa e.xamination. I '11 ac111it the docuaent into 

9 evidence as Respondent's Exhibit 18. 

10 (Reapondent•s Exhibit 18 

~1 received into evidence.) 

12 Ka. cowp•AYa I would liko next to have 

13 marked tor identification Mother's Ritchen check 

14 No. 1074. It is in a folder with a number 10 on it 

15 because it was identitied as Respondent's Exhibit 10 

16 in the prehearing statement. Dated 5-20-96. 

17 'I'D COUJlTa I' 11 mark the document tor 

18 identification as Respondent's Exhibit E. 

19 D. COWDDYa Okay. 

20 Q (By 11a. eowctery) Mr. Troy, do you 

21 recognize thi check? 

22 A Yes, I do. 

23 Q What do you know about this check? 

24 & It was a check received by Florida Public 

25 Utilities. It's $150, tace amount. We received it on 
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1 May 23rd, · 1996, and it shows on our aumaary sheet 

2 posted $150; payaant coming in on that amount. The 

3 check aiqned by Anthony Brooke. 

4 Q Was there anything else about what happened 

5 to this check? 

6 & tater on we found that, after it was 

7 received by us, it came back from the bank stamped 

8 NSF. 

9 Q What does "NSF" mean? 

10 & Nonautticient funds. 

11 Q Okay. Do you know when that check was 

12 returned, 11ore or leas? 
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13 

14 

A 

Q 

It was returned from the bank in ear ly June. 

Okay. Is there anything on this summary of 

15 account that corresponds to this check? 

16 You'll see in the NSF check return column a 

17 $170 item on June 7. That represents the $150 check 

18 being charged back to the account, plus a $20 service 

19 charge t or issuing a NSF check. Total of $170 charged 

20 to the account. 

21 Q Okay. I'd like to have this document 

22 entered as Respondent's Exhibit No. 19 . 

2 3 TBB CODaTa Any obj ection? Wi thout 

24 ob j e ction the document is admitted into evidence as 

25 Respondent's Exhibit 19. 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

l.1 

12 

13 

14 

15 

(Respondent ' • Exhibit 19 

received into evidence . ) 

xa. COWDaaYa I'd like to have marked tor 

identification the 5-23-96 Florida Public Utilities 

co~any receipt for $150. 

!'D COUR'r: Ia that marked as Folder No. 9'? 

118. COWDBJlY a Correct . 

!'D COURT& I'll mark the document tor 

identification as Respondent's Exhibit F. 

Q (By .. • cow4ery) Mr. Troy, do you 

recognize this document? 

& Yea. 

Q What is it? 

A It's a receipt issued by the company to 

Mother's Kitchen tor a $150 payment on May 23rd. 

16 Q And where does this show up on your account 

17 &WIIJiary? 

18 & That shows up on the payment ot $150, May 

19 23rd. This is the stub not the stub, but the 

20 receipt we issued when the check came in . 

21 118. COWDBaYa I would like to have this 

22 document entered as Respondent'• Exhibit 20. 

23 'l'D COftll'a Without objection, the document 

24 ia adaitted into evidence aa Respondent's Exhibit 20. 

25 (R .. pondent•a Exhibit 20 
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1 received into evidence.) 

2 M8. COWD .. Ya I'd like to have marked tor 

3 identification what ia in Folder 11. It is the 

4 6-10-96 receipt for $170. 

5 !'D COUM.'a I have the docu.aent and I'm 

6 aarkinq it aa Reapondent•a Exhibit G. 

7 Q c-, lla. COWdery) Mr. Troy, do you 

8 recognize this docuaent? 

9 

10 

11 

A 

Q 

A 

Yea, I do. 

What ia it? 

It's a payment coainq in of $170, and beinq 

12 that it's 170 it•a reimburae•ent tor the bad check 

13 charge of $170. They broke it down on ~~e receipt, 

14 the two aaounta, 150 utility and $20, which was the 

15 service charqe. 

16 Q Okay. And where does this show on your 

17 account summary? 
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18 A It shows an a June lOth payment of $170 paid 

19 tor qas services. 

20 o. COWDDY: Okay . I • d like to have this 

21 entered as Respondent's 21. 

22 

23 

D. BJtOOUs No objection. 

IJ'D COOit'l'a Without objection, the document 

24 is admitted into evidence aa Respondent's Exhibit 21. 

25 (Respondent 1 a Exhibit 21 
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1 received into evidence.) 

2 Ma. COWD .. Y1 I'd like to have marked tor 

3 identification from Folder 12 the 7-11-96 receipt tor 

4 $160. 

5 !'D COOJtlfs Document' a marked tor 

6 identification Respondent's Exhibit H. 

7 Q (ay ... Cowdery) Mr. Troy, do you 

8 recognize· tbia doeuaent? 

9 A Yes. This is a receipt issued tor cash 

10 payment, $160, to the Al Byrd, Mother's Kitchen 

11 account. It shows on the sUJDJDary as the payment ot 

12 $160 on the July 11th, 1996. 

13 Q Okay. 

14 u. COWDUYI I would like to have this 

15 entered as Respondent's 23. 

16 MR. Baoo&&a No objection. 

17 

18 

19 

20 

U. COWDDYI Wait. 

'I'D COVHI It I s 22. 

U. COWDDYI 22, I 11D sorry. 

'I'D COVHI Right. Without objection the 

21 document is admitted into evidence as Respondent's 

22 Exhibit 22. 

23 (Raapondent'a Exhibit 22 

24 recei ved into evidence.) 

25 Q (By ... Cowdery) Nov, I would like to 
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l reter baGk to an exhibit already entered into the 

2 record, Respondent•• Hearinq Exhibit 4. It's a copy 

3 of a July 24th Mother's Kitchen check. 

4 'rD COftt'l I have that document. 

5 Q (By ... Cow4ery) Do you recoqnize this 

6 check, Mr. Troy? 

7 A Yea, I do. 

8 Q Could you tell me about it? 

9 A This is a check issued from Mother's Kitchen 

10 signed Al Byrd in the amount of $211.72, dated 7-24-96 

~1 and it shows on our account summary as the 2-11-72 

12 payment on July 24th. 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

Q 

& 

unpaid. 

Q 

A 

Q 

return of 

Okay. And what happened to thia check? 

Thia check was returned from the bank 

Okay. About when was that returned? 

That was returned early Auqust. 

And is there an entry corresponding to the 

this check on your account sUDilllary? 

Yea. on Auquat 8th you'll see an entry 

21 under the NSF check returned column, 231.72. This 

22 represents the charge-back of this check of 211. 72 

23 plus, again, the $20 service charge. 

24 

25 

Q Okay . Thank you. 

xa. cown•aYa I'd like to have marked tor 
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1 identification from Folder 13 the 7-24-96 receipt for 

2 2-11-72. 

3 ~ COURT& I'll mark for identification the 

4 document as Respondent's Exhibit I. 

5 Q · (By 118. COW4ery) Do you recoqnize this 

6 receipt, Mr. Troy? 

7 A Yes, I do. 

8 

9 

Q 

A 

Would you tell me about it? 

Thia is the receipt issued on receipt of a 

10 check, on the top check No. 1131. Amount of the check 

11 is 211.72. The check went to the credit ot Mother's 

12 Kitchen account on 7-24-96 , and it is reflected on 

13 that date, July 24th, '96, under the payment column 

14 211.72. 

15 

16 

Q Okay. 

MS. CO~BRYI I'd like to have this entered 

17 as Respondent's 23. 

18 TBB COURTs Without objection it ' s adm i tted 

19 into evidence as Respondents Exhibit 23 . 

20 (Respondent's Exhibit 23 

21 received into evidence.) 

22 MS. COWDBRYs I'd l i ke to have marked t or 

23 identification from Folder 15 a copy of Petitioner's 

24 8-7-96 qa• bill for $540.04. 

25 ~ CO~& oocuaent is beinq marked f or 
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1 This bill is obtained through d iscovery. I 

2 believe we qot it at a deposition of Mr. Brooks in 

3 December. 

4 0 Okay. This came from Mother's Kitchen? 

5 1 Yes. 

6 0 Okay. 

7 u. COWD&aYa I would like to have this 

8 entered as Respondent's Exhibit No. 24. 

9 ~ CO~: Without objection the document 

10 is admitted into evidence as Respondent ' s Exhibit 24. 

1.1 (Reapondent ' a Exhibit 24 

12 received into evidence.) 

13 u. COWDB&Yz I'd like to have marked for 

14 identification from Pile 16, the 8-12-96 door-hanger 

15 notice, past due amount, $285.64. 

16 'I'D COUil'l': The document is marked for 

17 identification as Respondent's Exhibit K. 

18 0 (By Ma. Cowdery) Do you recognize this 

19 notice, Mr. Troy? 

20 

21 

22 

Yes, I do. 

Okay. And would you explain it? 

This is a door hanger that we put on the 

23 customer's door explain~ng why we turned off the gas. 

24 On this notice here it says for an amount of $285 . 64. 

25 The date at the top is 8-12. 
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1 identification from Folder 13 the 7-24-96 receipt for 

2 2-11-72. 
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3 'I'D OOU'Jtll'l I'll mark for identification the 

4 doc~ent as Reapondent•s Exhibi t I. 

5 0 · (Q .. • Cowdery) Do you recoqnize this 

6 receipt, Mr. Troy? 

7 

8 

9 

A 

0 

A 

Yea, I do . 

Would you tell •e about it? 

Thia is the receipt issued on receipt of a 

10 check, on the top check No. 1131. Amount of the check 

~1 is 211.72. The check went to the credit of Mother's 

12 Kitchen account on 7-24-96, and it i s reflectud on 

13 that date, July 24th, '96, under the payment column 

14 211 . 72. 

15 

16 

0 Okay . 

... OOWDaaYa I'd like to have this entered 

17 as Respondent's 23. 

18 !BB OOUR!t Without objection it's admitted 

19 into evidence as Respondents Exhibit 23. 

20 (Respondent' s Exhibit 23 

21 received i nto evidence.) 

22 xa. OOWD•aYa I'd like to have marked for 

23 identification from Folder 15 a oopy of Petitioner ' s 

24 8-7-96 qaa bill for $540.04. 

25 ~ co~a Document is being marked for 
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1 identi~ication aa Reapondent•s Exhibit J. 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

Q 

exhibit, 

& 

Q 

& 

rendered 

$540.04. 

Q 

U. C011DD'II Okay. 

Cla7 b. Cotrcte~) Do you recO<Jnize this 

Mr. Troy? 

Yea, I do . 

And what is it? 

It'• the bill for qaa service that we 

in early Auquat for -- total of the bill is 

Okay. What does it correspond to on your 

11 account aumaary? 

1:2 This would correspond to the Auqust 7th 

13 line, s howing $540.04 total bill rendered. 

14 Q Is this the billinq format whi ch is sent out 

15 to all customars, includinq Mother's Kitchen, every 

16 month? 

17 

18 

19 

& 

0 

& 

Yes. 

Does it show all amounts due on the account? 

Riqht. It will show the current charqes and 

20 any past due amounts . 

21 

22 bill? 

23 

24 

0 Okay. Does the utility keep a copy of this 

No, we 4o not. 

Okay. Where did Florida Public Utilities 

25 Company qet a copy of this bill? 
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1 This bill is obtained through discovery . I 

2 believe we got it at a deposition ot Mr. Brooks in 

3 December. 

4 Q Okay. This came trom Mother's Kitchen? 

5 A Yea. 

6 Q Okay. 

7 U. COWDD'!a I would like to have this 

8 entered as Respondent 's Exhibit No. 24 . 

9 ~ COvata Without objection the document 

10 is admitted into evidence as Respondent's Exhibit 24 . 

11 (Reapondent's EXhibit 24 

12 received into evidence.) 

13 u. OOWDKR'!a I' d like to have marked tor 

14 identification trom Pile 16, the 8-12-96 door-hanger 

15 notice, past due amount, $285 . 64. 

16 !'D CO~a The document is marked for 

17 identification as Respondent'o Exhibit K. 

18 (By .. • Ccnr4ery) Do you recognize thia 

19 notice, Mr. Troy? 

20 

21 

22 

A 

Q 

A 

Yea, I do. 

Okay. And would you explain it? 

Thia ia a door hanger that we put on the 

23 customer's door explaining why we turned off the CJfta. 

24 on thie notice here it aaya tor an amount of $285.64. 

25 The date at the top ia 8-12. 
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1 0 Okay. so if somebody got this door hanger, 

2 it means the gas was turned off? 

3 & Yes. 

4 0 Okay. Does the Company keep a copy of this 

5 notice? 

6 

7 

A 

Q 

No. 

And where did Florida Public Utilities 

8 company receive this document? 

9 A We got this also through discovery from 

1 o Mr. Brooks in December. 

1.1 0 Okay. And what doaa this document 

12 correapond to on your account summary? 

13 A The first August 12th line, which shows 

14 under "description" column, "meter shut oft for 

15 nonpayment of $285.64 . " 

16 Q Okay. 

17 KS. COWDBRY: I'd like to have this entered 

18 as Respondent's 25. 

19 TBB COURTs Without objection the document 

20 is admitted into evidence as Respondent's Exhibit 25. 

21 (Respondent's Exhibit 25 

22 received into evidence.) 

23 MS. cowo•aYa I'd like to have marked for 

24 identification from Polder 8, receipt for $290 dated 

25 8-12. I'm sorry . I'm sorry . I'm referring to what 
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1 has been previously entered in the record as 

2 Respondent's Exhibit 8. Previously entered into the 

3 record. 

4 

5 

6 Q 

'I'D COUJl'l' 1 Okay. I have that document. 

D. COWDDY& Okay. 

cay ... COWdery) Mr. Troy I do you 

7 recognize this receipt? 

Yes, I do. 
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8 

9 

A 

0 What is it and to what does it refer in your 

10 account summary? 

11 It's a cash receipt t or $290 received from 

12 the Mother's Kitchen account on August 13th. This 

13 receipt is shown on the August 12th entry here where 

14 you see $290 under the payment column. 

15 0 Would you explain, when was the payment 

16 received? 

17 A The payment was received August 12th. It's 

18 stamped "paid" on August 13 but it was received August 

19 12 at the office. 

20 0 Why is there a difference between the 

21 payment date and stamped-in date? 

22 When the cashier• close out for the day, and 

23 they will close out prior to Wells Fargo coming 

24 p i cking up the bank depo8it, which is round 11:30, 

25 noon. They clo•e out before noon, before 11:30. 
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1 After they close out, they will advance the 

2 date on their stamp at the computer screen to agree 

3 with the deposits that wi ll be going into the next 

4 day's deposita to the bank, ao if you bring in an 

5 payr ent they advance the date. But on the receipt 

6 they will show the actual date that they got it from 

7 the customer, as this one shows. 

8 

9 

Q Okay. Thank you. 

K&. COWD .. Ya I'd like to have marked for 
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10 identification item Polder 18, the 8-13-96 time loq of 

],1 Tim Love. 

12 'I'D COUll!' a All right . Mark the document 

13 for identification as Respondent's Exhibit L. 

14 Q (By lla. COW4ery) Mr. Troy, do you 

15 recognize this document? And to what does it 

16 correspond on the account summary? 

17 A Tim Love's time loq for the day of August 

18 13th, 1996 . On the about sixth line down you ' ll aaa 

19 1744 Airport Boulevard. The next column it says SONP, 

20 which is shut ott tor nonpaid; TON, turn on. 

21 That means early that morning, in the next 

22 column it shows the time, where 11:15 he arrived to 

23 turn on account that had been shut off for nonpaid. 

24 This ties into the summary. On the August 13th line 

25 it shows gas turned on by T. Love. 
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1 

2 

0 Okay. 

u. COWDUY& I'd like to have this entered 

3 as exhibit Reapondent•s 26. 

4 ~ COURTa Without objection the document 

5 is admitted into evidence as Respondent's Exhibit 26. 

6 (Respondent's Exhibit 26 

7 received into evidence.) 

390 

8 xs. COWDBRY: Okay. I'd like to have marked 

9 tor identification from Polder 20 the turn-ott notice 

10 dated 8-30-96 tor $230.04. 

11 TBB COORTa Document is marked tor 

12 identification as Respondent's Exhibit N. 

13 0 (By b. COwdery) Mr. Troy, do you 

14 recognize this document? 

15 

16 

17 

A 

0 

A 

Yes. 

And what is it? 

This is a notice that we send out to our 

18 customers advising them that they have to make a 

19 payment by a certain date to avoid disconnection of 

20 the gas. This notice here shows a turn-off date of 

21 September lOth, 1996 . The date ot the notice or when 

22 it was mailed August 30th , '96. At the bottom it 

23 shows the total amount that was due to avoid t~rn ott, 

24 $230.04. It has the customer's name and address 

25 Alfred Byrd d/b/a Mother'• Kitchen, 1744 Airport 
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1 Boulevard, Sanford, Florida . It was sent to the 

2 service address; not the P. o. Box. 

3 It also shows when the serviceman workedon 

4 this card he put down the date he terminates service, 

5 whic.h was September 12th. He locked the meter. The 

6 meter was reading 5365 at the time. 

7 Q What does that handwritten note under 

8 "remarks" say? 

9 

10 

11 

12 

a 

Q 

a 

Q 

"Locked 5365." 

What does "locked" mean? 

He turned ott the meter a.nd locked it. 

Okay. To what on your account summary does 

13 this notice correspond? 

14 A on August 30th we show the disconnect notice 

15 being mailed for a past due amount $230.04. And then 

16 on September the 12th, meter shut off for nonpayment, 

17 $230 . 04. 

18 Q Okay. 

19 K8. COWDBRYz I'd like to have this entered 

20 as Respondent' s 27 . 

21 ~ COUR~a Without objection, it's admitted 

22 i nto evi dence as Respondent's 27. 

23 (Respondent'• Exhibi t 27 

24 recei ved into ev i dence .) 

25 Q <ar Ka. cowder,) Mr . Troy, I 'd l i ke to 
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1 have --

2 MS. COWDBRYa I'd like to have marked tor 

3 identification what's marked as Folder 44, which is a 

4 Turn-oft Notice form. 

5 'I'D cova'fa This is a blank form with the 

6 carbon copies attached and everything? 

7 MS. COWDBtYa Yes, sir. You have an 

8 original. Everyone else has copies of all three 

9 pages. 

10 

1.1 

12 

13 

14 

15 

'I'D COva'fa All right. I'll mark the 

original tor identification as Respondent's Exhibit N. 

Q (By Ma. Cow4ery) Okay. Mr. Troy, could 

you identity and explain what this is? 

& Y••· Tbis is a blank TUrn-ott Notice form 

that we send out to the customers. 

16 Q What is the purpose of sending it to them? 

17 a To encourage payment, to avoid shut off for 

18 nonpaid. It basically comes in two parts. You have 

19 the front copy. on the back side ot the front copy is 

20 the narrative that you see on the second page that's 

21 on the back side. And then there's the -- what is 

22 called hard copy on the back end which the company 

23 keeps. 

24 Q In general, what information is conveyed to 

25 the customer on the back side ot that form? 
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1 It just warns them ot the seriousness . That 

2 to avoid service -- the total due on the other side of 

3 the form must be paid by the turn-off date . And it 

4 tells them if they can't get to the office during work 

5 hours, there's a night deposit box available. It 

6 gives them some recourse if they're not happy wi th 

7 what they are hearing from the company. It gives the 

8 PUblic Service commission's number also. 

9 It also warns them if th•Y do get cut of one 
r 

10 day, we cannot quarantee reconnect ion that d.ay. Upon 

l1 payment of the past due amount and the r econnect 

12 charge , that service could be restored the following 

13 day. 

14 Q Was this the type form which was sent to the 

15 Mother's Kitchen restaurant? 

16 A Yes. 

17 Ka. COWD.aYa I ' d like to have this entered 

18 as Respondent's 28 . 

19 KR. BROOK8t I object to this, Your Honor. 

20 There's nothing on this document which would indicate 

21 that this document was mailed to M.other' a Kitchen 

22 restaurant. And Ms. Cowdery's question was, was this 

23 the type form sent to Mother's Kitchen restaurant? To 

24 which the witne•s re•pondad yes. 

25 However, •he •aya type form . There's 
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1 absolutely nothinq on this document, and even in the 

2 text of the -- even in the text of the paragraphs on 

3 the reverse side to which she was referring to, makes 

4 no mention of this thing ever being sent to Mother's 

5 Kitchen restaurant. 

6 xa. COWDaaYa Your Honor, the teatiaony of 

7 Mr. Troy was not that this particular document was 

8 sent, but this is the form which would have been 

9 filled out and sent to Mother'• Kitchen reataurant . 

10 This is the form that was used. The purpose being to 

11 show what information was sent to Mother '• Kitchen 

12 restaurant, which included that customer informatio~. 

1J Again, it is not a proper objection if 

14 Mr. Brooks disagrees that it aay or may not have been 

15 sent. 

16 KR. BR00&81 No, sir. What Ms. Cowdery's 
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17 statement just did, indicates is, is that she's saying 

18 this item is introduced aa a document which would 

19 reflect what the customer would have received. 

20 Now, this document -- while I'm holding 

21 three different pages here, copies, I assume that this 

22 document is a one-piece document, with carbon copies 

23 behi nd, based upon the deacription Ms. Cowdery was 

24 usi ng. There's nothing on this document that would 

25 indicate that this information in the back or the 
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1 information in the front was ever sent to Mother's 

2 Ki tcban. And this document -- unless she has such a 

3 document to indicate that it was sent to Mother's 

4 Kitchen, then this document has absolutely no 

5 significance to the case at hand here. 

6 'I'D COUJtll's I understand. And I ' 11 reserve 

7 ruling as to relevance, but I understand it's a blank 

8 t~rm, and unless there's a tie~in to i ndicate that 

9 there was such a notioe aent to Mother's Kitchen, it 

10 wouldn't be relevant. so I'll admitted it, subject to 

~1 relevance, as Respondent's Exhibit 28. 

12 (Respondent's Exhibit 28 

13 received into evidence.} 

14 Q (By xa. COwdery) Mr. Troy, looking at 

15 Respondent's Exhibit 28, was such a document sent to 

16 Mother's Kitchen on tour occasions? 

17 A Yes. We only have one type of document that 

18 is a Disconnect Notice. This is the document. on at 

19 least four occasions, maybe five, it was sent to 

20 Mother's Kitchen • 

21 ... OOWDSRYa I'd like to have marked tor 

22 identification trom Folder 21 a copy ot the 9-9-96 gas 

23 bill for $471.29. 

24 TD COUJlTa The document is being marked tor 

25 identifiootion as a .. pcmdent'a Exhibit o. 
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1 Q (BJ lla. Cowdery) Do you recognize this 

2 document, Mr. Troy? 

3 A Yes. This is the September bill that was 

4 sent to Mother's Kitchen. 

5 Q Okay. And to what does it correspond on the 

6 account su.aary? 

7 The September 9th, 1996, line showing a 

8 bill, the bill column ot $471.29. 

9 Q Okay. Once again, does Florida Public 

10 Otilitiea Coapany save a copy ot this bill, this 

~1 particular bill in its recorda? 

12 

13 

A 

Q 

No, it does not. 

Okay. Where did Florida Public Utilities 

14 Company obtain a copy ot this bill tor this case? 

15 We got this through -- from the Petitioner 

16 and through the co~rse of the investigation with the 

17 Florida Public Service Commiaaion . 

18 u. COWDDYa Okay . I would like to have 

19 this marked -- I mean entered as Respondent's No. 29. 

20 

21 

xa. BROOIBa No objection. 

~ CO~& Without objection, it's admitted 

22 into evidence as Respondent's Exhibit 29. 

23 (Reapondent•s Exhibit 29 

24 received into evidence.) 

25 u. COWDD'!I I'd like to have marked tor 
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1 identification from Polder 22 the 9-12-96 door-hanqer 

2 notice for SONP tor $230.04. 

3 ~ 00~1 The document is beinq marked for 

4 identification as Respondent's Exhibit P. 

5 Q (87 J&a. cowctery) Mr. Troy , do you 

6 recognize this docuaent? 

7 a Yea. This is the door hanqer that is put on 

8 a customer's account when a meter has been turned off 

9 for nonpaid.' This one shows amount owed of $230.04 

10 which was the reason the gas was turned ott. Date of 

ll the notice is 9-12, 1996 . It's tor the Mother's 

!2 Kitchen account. And it reflects on the summary as 

13 September 12th, the first September 12~th date under 

14 the explanation "meter shut ott tor nonpayment 

15 $230 .04." 

16 MS. OOWDaRYa I would like to have this 

17 entered as Respondent's Exhibit 30. 

18 KR. BROO&st No objection. 

19 ~ COURTa Without objection, the document 

20 is admitted into evidence as Respondent's Exhibit 30. 

21 (Respondent's Exhibit 30 

22 received into evidence.) 

23 Q (By lla. co" .y) And Mr. Troy, where did 

24 Florida Public Utilitiea Company receive a copy of 

25 this door-han;er notice? 
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1 We got that from Petitioner, I believe it 

2 was at the time of the depoaition but I'm not sure, 

3 but it did coae from the Petitioner. we would not 

4 retain a copy of it. 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

Q Okay. Thank you. 

Now, I would like to once again rater to an 

exhibit already entered into the record. It's 

Reapondent•a Hearing Exhibit No. 10. It is the 

9-12-96 

Exhibit 

Q 

receipt tor $261.04 . That's Respondent's 

10. 

'I'D COOJl'l' 1 Okay. I have that document. 

(By Ma. cov4ery) Do you recoqnize this 

13 particular document? 

14 A Yea, I do. 

15 Q What is this document? 

16 A This is a receipt issued after payment of 

17 $261.04 cash payment made on September 12th, 1996, by 

18 Mother's Kitchen. 

19 Q Okay. And to what does it correspond on the 

20 account aWIUDary? 

21 It would correapond to the September 12th 

22 payment column of 261.04 • 

23 ... OOWDBaYs I'd like to have marked for 

24 identification from Folder 27 the Merchandiae and Gas 

25 Service 20-day cycle Recorda . 
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1 'I'D COUftl Be aarked -- the docuaent tor 

2 identification as Respondent's Exhibit Q. 

3 Q (ay .. • cowdei'J) Mr. Troy, do you 

4 recoqnize these documents? 

5 

6 

& 

Q 

Yea . 

Would you please explain what they are? 

1 a These a r e 20- day cycle recorda, one tor 

8 merchandise on t op : the ones underneath, probably 

9 about eight or te.n ot them, are all gas account 

10 bal~ces. 

~1 What a cycle balance shows is the 

12 tranaactiona that have been on account, regiatere~ on 

13 the account within the last 20-day cycle. A 20-day 

14 cycle is done every month one day prior to billing so 

15 it represents activity since the last bill went out. 

16 Q So do thea~ cycle records repreae~t the 

17 status of an account the day before billing? 

18 A Yea. 

19 Q Okay. Where does the information come from 

20 tor these recorda? And how is it inputted? 
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21 Information will come from the transactions, 

22 such as the cash receipt•, check• returned from the 

23 bank, service charg .. ; whatever affect s an account 

24 will be in a transaction . There will be, ot course, 

25 hard copy. I t's inputted by the c ustomer reps in the 
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1 local divisions or data proceaa personnel in our Weat 

2 Palm Beach corporate office . 

3 Q Now, these particular records -- what 

4 account are tb ae records for? 

s a Okay. The top one is for the merchandise 

6 account. It ahowa -- if you look at the first one 

7 it's dated s-1. It says "merchandise." It's hard to 

8 read, but it says "merchandise" about halfway cross. 

9 It shows the account number over there, which was the 

10 account nuaber that the job order was billed on for 

11 the original connection of appliances. It shows a 

12 126.59 payaent coming in on 4-23. The source code 59 

13 on the left of it means "cash." Right below it, it 

14 shows a billing transaction date of 3-22, which is 

15 when they hooked up the appliances. And total bill of 

16 $126.59. 

17 Q Okay. Now, what customer do these cyc le 

18 records apply to? 

19 A They apply to -- it just shows account 

20 number but they apply to the Alfred Byrd d/ b/ a 

21 Mother•• Kitchen . The account number for that account 

22 is 013107252, which shows up on the second paqe of the 

23 gas account. 

24 Q I• there a different account number for the 

25 merchandiae record on the first page? 
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1 

2 

A 

Q 
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Yes. You'll see a 3331-92286 . 

Okay. Mr. Troy, I would like you to l ook 

3 tor the 9 - 6-96, 20-day cycle records. It's about five 

4 from the end . The date is on the upper left- hand 

5 corner. 9-6- 96. Do you have that? 

6 

7 

A 

Q 

Yes. 

Okay. Ia there a 20-day cycle record tor 

8 9-6-96 consistent with how Ms . Keitt in this case 

9 testified that she reported the August 12th , 1996, and 

10 the August 28th, 1996, payments from Mother ' s Kitchen? 

~1 A Yes, it is. 

12 

13 

Q 

A 

Would you explain that? 

This report shows that -- the last line down 

14 shows a source code 90 on transaction date of 8-28 of 

15 payment amount ot 521.72. And she testified that she 

16 took in cash ot 521.72 to this account on that date 

17 which represented two cash payments, a $ 290 cash 

18 payment and a $231 .72. Let me explain. 231.72. Cash 

19 payment totalling 521.72. 

20 Q Okay. Now, in these 20-day cycle records, 

21 beside that 5-21-72 entry, are there any separate 

22 entries ehown for uncombined amounts of $231.72 or 

23 $290? 

24 A No. It's just one payment shown for the 

25 transactions tor the month of August . 

FLORIDA ~C SERVICE COMMISSION 



402 

1 Q Okay. If there had been an entry -- if 

2 there had been a payment of $231.72, or $290 that was 

3 in addition to this 5-21-72, would they have shown up 

4 in theae 20-day cycle records? 

5 A They would be on thi• paqe, yea . 

6 Q Okay. Mr. Troy , are you familiar with how 

7 Diane Keitt handled the entry of the payments for $290 

8 and $231.72 from Mother's Kitchen? 

9 

10 

A 

Q 

Yes. 

Okay . Did Ms. Keitt's handling of the 290 

11 and 231 .72 payment from Mother's Kitchen violate any 

12 generally accepted accounting principles or any rule 

13 of the Florida Public Service Commission? 

14 

15 

16 show 

A 

Q 

No. 

All right. Now, do these cycle records also 

you may have to look -- the $150 NSF chec 

17 being charged back to tbe account? 

18 Yes, it does. on the cycle dated 7-8-96 

19 you'll see $150 with a source 62. A source 62 is a 

20 bad check. 

21 Q Okay . And where does that correspond on 

22 your account summary? 

23 on June 7th you'll aee $170 posting which 

24 represents $150 bad check and $20 service charge. 

25 KB. COWDiaYa Okay. I'd like to have these 
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1 20-day cycl e records entered aa Re•pondent's 31. 

2 TD COURtfl Without objection , the document 

3 is submitted into evidence as Reapondent•s Exhibit 31, 

4 compoaite exhibit consisting of 13 pages. 

5 (Respondent's Exhibit 31 

6 received into evidence.) 

7 118. COWD•RYI Okay. I'd like to have marked 

8 for i dentification a composite computer record 

9 exhibit, I believe consisting of three pages. 

10 IJ.'KI COURT: Is that in Folder numbe j- 41. 

11 U. COWDD~: Yes, it is. 

12 IJ.'KI COORTI Marked tor identification as 

13 Respondent's Exhibit R. 

14 Q (By lla. Cov4ery) Okay. Mr. Tro~·, do you 

15 recognize the documents identified as computer 

16 records? 

17 

18 

A 

Q 

Yes, I do . 

Okay. I would like to go through page by 

19 page and have you briefly review what the document is, 

20 and explain how the document supports the informati on 

21 on the account summary, •tarting with Page 1. 

22 Okay . Page 1 1• an accounts receivable 

23 computer screen which -we can pull up on any account 

24 and it shows the status of that account as of that 

25 date. 
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1 Thia computer aoreen here, some of the 

2 information on it shows, of course, the Alfre<S Byrd 

3 d/b/a Mother'• Kitchen account, 1744 Airport Boulevard 

4 sanford, Florida, aa the mailing address that's left 

5 blank. At this time the bill waa going to the 1744 

6 Airport Boulevard address. 

7 If you look about a quarter of the way down 

8 the bill you aee last SONP, that's shut off for 

9 nonpay. See two dates, which corresponds to the 

10 account summary of 9-12-96 and B-12-96 when the 

11 account was shut off for nonpay. This is the 

12 september bill, which was $471.29. It shows the 

13 account summary and it shows here also. 

14 Q When did you print this page? 

15 A This page would have been printed on 

16 september 13th or the 16th. That was a Friday or 

17 Monday. 

18 

19 

Q 

A 

Okay. And how do you know that? 

The backup sheet that goes with this 

20 well, let me explain it this way. This is the 

21 September bill. We already had the 9-12 show up tor 

22 nonpay on there, so it had to be done after 9-12. Up 

23 two lines you'll see an account on date, 3-22-96. ott 

24 date is still lett blank. It was turned ott on 9-16. 

25 we entered that two days later. So it had to be done 
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1 around tbe 13th, or following Monday, or even possibly 

2 Tuesday. Proa what I recollect is I ran this on the 

3 13th. 

4 Q And why did you do that? 

5 To address the customer on that day. And 

6 when I do that, I generally pull up the account , hit 

7 the print button and print it out. 

8 Q Waa this computer paqe then printed before 

9 or after you had any contact with the Florida PUblic 

10 Service Commission? 

11 

12 

A 

Q 

It would have been before. 

Okay. And would you please tell us what 

13 those notes represent? 

14 These are notes I made on the account that 

15 date at my conversations with the local office and 

16 Mr. Brooks. 

17 

18 

19 

Q 

A 

Q 

Okay. 

And that's Pages 1 and 2. 

Do you generally take notes ot telephone 

20 conversations with customers? 

21 A Yea. 

22 Q Okay. Would you continue with Page 3? 

23 A Page 3, it's the aame screen. You bring it 

24 up . Thia one waa brouqht up in December ' 96 showing a 

25 balance ot 110.75, which on the s heet shows 110.75. 

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 



1 That balance was carried fro• Septellber 19th forward. 

2 It alao ahows account wa• ott up there in the top 

3 right, says ott date 9-16 ia when we tinalled it. 

4 The acreen right behind it -- or excuae me, 

5 the page right behind it, which ia the next acreen we 

6 print out, ahowa all of the transactions. It lists 

7 conaumption on the lett-hand aide ahowing the 
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8 conaurption each month. The account was on the amount 

9 of the current bill. On the lett-hand aide it shows 

10 payments, it shows aervice charges, it shows return 

11 checks being charged back. Deposita being applied. 

12 The last entry ot 9-19 showed a $200 credit tor a 

13 deposit applied to the account since it was tinftl. 

14 It you add up all of the entries, the gas 

15 bills, all of the entri .. , debita and credits on the 

16 right-hand aide, the total will come to $110.75 which 

17 is on the first sheet. In other words, it's a detail 

18 of all transactions. You can tie in most ot tr 6 se to 

19 the account aUlDJilary; the payments, the bad check 

20 charqea, aervice charge• can all be tied into the 

21 account sUJIIlllary , as well as the bills. 

22 Q Okay. Mr. Troy, are these -- is this paqe 

23 consistent with how Ms. Keitt testified that she 

24 recorded the Auqust 12 and Auqust 28th payment• by 

25 Mother' s Kitchen? 
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1 & Yes. If you look on Page 4 you'll see 

2 August 28th, source 90, which is payment coming in at 

3 5-21-72 which is two combined payments. 

4 Q ue there any additional separate payments 

5 

6 

7 

of $290 

& 

Q 

or $231.72? 

No. 

Okay. Page 5 is the next screen that can 

8 come up on a computer. Just keep pushing a button to 

9 get these additional screens. The whole bottom is a 

10 repeat of all the •ource oo4ea, with the exception of 

11 no billing on there. It just s hows the l ast 18 

12 transactions. What this account shows, about the 

13 middle of the screen, you'll see delinquent notice 

14 dates, you'll aee 9-96, 8-96, 7-96, 6-96. These are 

15 the dates that the machine pri nted a Disconnect Notice 

16 and mailed it to the customers. 

17 Mr. Byrd, doing business as Mother's 

18 Kitchen, was in the first circle, so it would have 

19 went out early in the month. In other words, the 

20 9-96, that was the one dated August lOth; went out 

21 right at the first of September, and so on. But it 

22 shows four disconnect notices going out July, August 

23 and September. 

24 

25 

0 Okay. Back up one second. 

Were the Pages 3 through 31 printed at a 
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1 different time than the first two pages, different 

2 date? 

Yes . 

Okay . Conti nue. 
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3 

4 

s 

A 

0 

A Okay. The next one is at Page 6 is detailed 

6 gas bills. Gives a little more detail than that other 

7 sheet did showing the actual read on the meter, 

8 consumpti on, state municipal tax and total bill for 

9 that month. current charges only. Any arrears would 

10 not show on here, juat the current billing . 

11 0 Okay. Page 7 showa we're getting f urther 

12 into time now . At the top lett you'll aee a date, 

13 12- 11-97 we ran a printout of the account to see what 

14 the status of this account was. It shows a total 

15 amount due zero in both columns, meaning the account 

16 was clean at this time at December 11th, 1997. The 

17 next page , Page 8 shows what happened. Again, you're 

18 going to see - - wben you pull up the same account, 

19 even though you 're pulling up a later day, you see all 

20 the same transaction. Any additional transactions 

21 that took place would be on the sheet. 

22 Here we see March 4th, 1997, there was a 

23 payment ot 22.75 received by Al Byrd; brought the 

24 110 . 75 down to $88. This is the last entry here. 

25 On 6-27, after repeated billings and not 
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1 getting any r .. pon&e of Mr. Byrd, we charged it off. 

2 363 as a charge ott. It's charged ott and turned over 

3 to collection, outside collection agency. 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

Q 

A 

Q 

What page are you on now? 

Page 8. 

What i• the 363 you referred to? 

A That is a source code tor a charge off, 

uncollecti ble. 

Q And where does that show up on this page? 

A The t op ot the right column. As 6-27-97 

source 363, amount $88, which was the balance was 

12 charged ott . so the account was brought to zero and 

13 turned over to collections. 

14 

15 

0 

& 

Okay. 

Page 9 is a brief history of the account as 

16 to service. Here again, it's a screen that the 

17 customer reps can look at to get a bird's eye view of 

18 the service that took place on this account. Alfred 

19 Byrd, Mother's Kitchen account. 

20 We see on -- let's start at the bottom of 

21 the section there, 3-22 we had a lOG06, which is 

22 connect ra.nge by Pc.>lizzi (ph). On the middle section 

23 we have a 22807, investigate oven on 6-3-~6 which was 

24 done by McDaniel. At the top we see a dummy order, 

25 which means it was done in the field, on 9-13-96. It 
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1 was a disconnect ranqe, a l5G06 by McDaniel. Aqain, a 

2 bird'a eye view what went on in the account for these 

3 customers. 

4 Q Whose notati ons are showinq up on this 

5 docuaent? 

6 A That•a my writing. 

7 Q Okay. 

8 A To describe what a l5G06 is and a 22807 and 

9 a lOG06. That's the codinq that we use. 

10 Q Okay. Paqe 10? 

ll A Paqe 10 is a more bird'• eye view 

12 information about the account. It shows the meter was 

13 turned ott on 9-16-96 by McDaniel. That'• the 

14 official turn-ott date. We actually went by there on 

15 the 16th of September 1996, aqain read the meter and 

16 officially turned it ott. 

17 Q Okay. And why didn't you do it before the 

18 16th? 

19 A There was soDe option for the present owners 

20 of Mother' s Ritchen to come in and establiah a new 

21 account. 

22 

23 

24 

Q 

A 

Q 

And did they do that? 

No. 

Did they contact the company at all about 

25 eatablishinq a new account after the 13th? 
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1 

2 

3 

& 

Q 

& 

No. 

Okay. 

The Page 11 and 12 are the merchandise 

4 s•nmary sheets abowing the connection of appliances. 

5 This is ei~er aerchandiae qoea on these sheets or 

6 servicing ot aerchandise. Here they connected 
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7 appliances. Shows the total ot 126.50. It also shows 

8 on the second page a payment coming in on 4-23 ot 

9 126.59, and source 659 is caah payaent or check, 

10 payment co•ing in. 

Q 

A 

That'• Page 12 ot 31? 

11 and 12 show additional connection in 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

appliances. on Page 11 you can see the date ot 

3-22-96 and the total billing 126.59. There's a 

breakdown on the lett side which shows material 62.10, 

labor $56, sales tax 8.29, the which totals 126.59. 

Q Page 13? 

A Page 13 through 22 reflect entries in the 

computer syst .. ot service work done at the -- well, 

20 any account here is the Mother's Kitchen account. And 

21 there's a lot ot coding on here, but i t's basically 

22 the information that's punched in the computer to get 

23 a record in the computer. 

24 The first one is i nitial connection ot 

25 appliances. 
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1 

2 

Q 

A 

412 

What page is that? 

This is Page 13. It's two parts, 13 and 14 

3 are all the same. It's a service request to connect 

4 prior. Makes reference to the job order 599286. The 

5 work was done on the front you see completed by 

6 Poli- Zi 3-22-96. 

7 Q Okay. 

8 And again it shows Alfred Byrd on the first 

9 page, 13, P. o. Box 134, Sanford, Florida. 

10 The next two, 15 and 16, shows the turn- on 

11 in the account, Mother'• Kitchen. It waa turned on 

12 taken by Johnson, Roberta Johnson, at the bottom of 15 

13 there you see Johnson aa "J-O-H-N-0-0." Completed by 

14 Polizzi dated 3-22-96. Right above it 1-21 turn on 

15 account, Mother's Kitchen. 

16 Next two, · 7 and 18, ther~'• another aervice 

17 request. See a 9-9-9 service request on 17. It was 

18 done on 6-3-96 by McDaniel. On the second page it 

19 just says "Commercial account. Need as soon as 

20 possible. Knock loud on door . " I think I explained 

21 already you'll see also on Page 18, 22P07, which waa , 

22 I think, investigate oven. It's repetition. 

23 Q Mr. Troy, on Page 17 there'• a listing with 

24 the name "Al ! red Byrd" and to the lett ~ere's "NNAM." 

25 Do you otthancl lcnow what that NNAM meana as oppoaed t.o 
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1 the like NCAM tor the d/ b/ a Mother's Kitchen? 

2 A Probably NC is probably "care of" name, and 

3 the name above the account ia NNAM. N-A-M. 

4 There's a lot of coding on here. I'm pretty 

5 sure that•a what that meana. D/b/ a is the "care of" 

6 section of the billing recorda. 

7 Q Okay. 

8 A The laat one for the -- 19 and 20, represent 

9 other service requeats by McDaniel, 9-13•96 was the 

10 date, and this was the dummy order to disconnect the 

11 range. 

12 21, 22 was the turn ott the meter on -- 21 

13 was the 101, turn ott meter, completed by McDaniel on 

14 the bottom there, the date, 9-16-96 . on the second 

15 page you can see the actual post date. 9-18-96 was 

16 when it waa posted to the records. That's when it 

17 would have shown on the accounts receivable we talked 

18 about earlier. 

19 

20 

Q 

A 

Okay. 

Okay. Now, the rest of these, 23 through 31 

21 are record changes, billing record corrections or 

22 changes that are put in the ayatem. 

23 Q Mr. Troy, I'm just going to ask you a 

24 question right now. 

25 There's a lot of computer records here. Are 
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1 there any other co•puter records anywhere with regard 

2 to the Mother'• Kitchen account? 

3 A Not that I know of. We dumped just about 

4 everything we can get out of the computer. 
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5 Q Was it your intent this be a complete set of 

6 all r f the computer information you have on Mother's 

7 Kitchen? 

8 

9 

10 

A 

Q 

A 

Yes. 

Okay. 

That's why we dumped some of these -- kind 

11 of confusing because of all the coding, but it's stuff 

12 that's in the system. We would have dumped it anyway. 

13 It ties in and supports our summary and our position . 

14 Q Okay . 

15 A Page 23 it shows -- you can tell the account 

16 by the number at the top. 13107252 is the Mother's 

17 Kitchen account. It shows -- we have terminals in the 

18 office, and that was Diane Keitt's terminal. 5-10-96 

19 it says -- there's as W data and a C data. C data is 

20 what was changed. It was blank, but they put in a 1 

21 for the credit code. 

22 

23 

Q 

A 

And what does that mean? 

Credit code 1 is what we expect all 

24 businesses to do. To be on this, this requires a 

25 monthly payment of the gas bill. We feel that all 
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1 businesses should be paying monthly . So on 5-10-96 a 

2 credit code 1 waa put there. 

3 Q All right. The next one, Page 24, again, 

4 the aaae account. Johnson's computer, Roberta 

5 Johnson's computer, on Auqust 12th, 1996, data on the 

6 account showed P. o. Box 134 in the mailinq address, 

7 is their mailing address. It was changed to blank . 

8 In other words, they took ott the P. o. Box 134 ott 

9 the mailing address , which would cause it to revert to 

10 the service address . 

11 Q Okay. So does this page correspond to 

X2 anything on the account summary? 

13 A August 12th. There's a mailing address 

14 change on August 12th. That's what this r epresents. 

15 Q Okay. 

16 There was a request on August 12th to change 

17 the mainland address from the P. 0. Box to the service 

18 address on the account. 

19 Q Okay. Tell me again why you didn 't need to 

20 put 1744 Airport Boulevard on this document? 

21 & Because when you take out the mailing 

22 address, it reverts back to the service address. 

23 Q For bil ling purposes? 

24 For bi1ling purposes, cut-off notices, 

25 anything we send out to the county, reverted to the 
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1 service address. It's only when there's a different 

2 address to send the billa to that we give a mailing 

3 address. 

4 It also shows the clock, the time they did 

5 it. It's a -- what do you call it? Service time or 

6 araed services time, whatever; 24-bour clock, 1600:20 

7 would be 4:00 in the afternoon. 

8 Q so what does 4 o'clock in the afternoon have 

9 to do with this paqe? 

10 A This is when the addreaa waa changed. Late 

ll afternoon, on the 12th. 

12 The next one, Page 25, is a continuation. 

1~ Johnson also removed the mailing city-state ot 

14 Sanford, Florida on there at the same time. Took ott 

15 P. o. Box, sanford, Florida, and the Zip: was reverted 

16 back to the service address. All at 4:00 that 

17 afternoon. 

18 Q And that's the same on Paqe 26 is the Zip 

19 code? 

20 Riqht. They juat removed the Zip code. 

21 on Paqe 27, at Diane Keitt's desk, on 8-16 

22 she entered the last SONP, which was 8-12-96. In 

23 other words, it was blank. I call that data oooo. 

24 She put in, changed it to 8-12-96. She entered a shut 

25 ott tor nonpay date, which corresponds to the shut ott 
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1 for nonpay tor Auquat 12. And she did that on Auqust 

2 l6~h, a couple of days later. 

3 

4 

Q 

& 

What ia Paqe 28? 

Paqe 28 also is a chanqe data on 9-13-96. 

5 The last SONP was chanqed from 8-12 to 9-12. 

6 Q Now, what does that mean? Now, what would 

7 the recorda reflect a• of 9-13? 

8 A As of 9-13, there would be a shut ott tor 

9 nonpaid shown as 9-12-96 . 

10 Q That would represent the most recent SONP? 

11 A The most recent SONP. 

12 0 would the screens a that point still s how a 

13 12-96 as an SONP? 

14 No, not at that point. The next sheet puts 
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15 the 8-12 on the previous SONP. Sheet 29, on same date 

16 9-13-96, the data was 0000. It was changed to 

17 8-12-96, and the column was previous SONP. Now the 

18 way it reflects is current SONP, 9-12-96. Previous 

19 SONP, 8-12-96. 

20 0 And would this correspond to the SONP's 

21 listed on Page 1 of 31? 

22 

23 

24 

& 

Q 

A 

Yes, it would. 

Okay. 

On Paqe 30, of 31, also on Diane's terminal, 

25 on 9-19 he changed the date of the previous SONP from 

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 



418 

1 8-12 to 8-21. 

2 Q Okay. Do we know why this was done? 

3 & I have no idea why it waa done. 

4 Q Doea it appear to be a mistake? 

5 ~ It looks like it waa a mistake. 

6 Q Okay. Does that explain why on Page J of 31 

7 

8 

9 

an SONP 

~ 

Q 

of 8-21-96 appears? 

Yea. That date will show up. 

Did you investigate to see whether or not 

10 there was a SONP on 8-21? 

11 Yeah. We looked at field recorda to 

12 determine when the shut-otts were. We could find 

13 nothing on 8-21, so we felt it was a mistake; put in 

14 the recorda. 

15 Q okay. So at this point what do you believe 

16 the records show as tar as the dates when the Mother' o 

17 Kitchen account was shut ott tor nonpay? 

18 The first one was 8- 12-96; the second one 

19 was 9-12-96, and we have documents to back it up. 

20 Q Let me ask yr about these changes that ara 

21 shown in these computer records. I f there w&re any 

22 changes made to the acc ount, do they show up in these 

23 computer records? 

24 

25 

& 

Q 

Yea . 

Okay. Does this mean that there were no 
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1 other changes made to the computer records; that they 

2 are all right here? 

3 

4 

5 

Right. 

This is a complete set of the changes? 

When they dumped the file, everything that 

6 was in there came out. And people can't get in to 

7 change these without it being recorded. 

8 Q It they make a change, the computer records 

9 show that change? 

10 A It would show a change being made. 

l1 0 Okay. I'm not sure you finished. Did I 

12 interrupt you? 
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13 one more. Page 31, Cathy Reid made an entry 

14 on 11-20-96 which entered Alfred Byrd's social 

15 security number on the account. It was kind ot 

16 evident that we were having a problem with 

17 collections. And collection agency said that we have 

18 the social aecurity number on the account, and print 

19 it out and charge it ott. So we went ahead and put it 

20 on there. 

21 MS. coWD•aYs I'd like to have these 

22 computer recorda entered aa Respondent'• No. 32. 

23 

24 

xa. aaoo&sa No objection. 

~ CODaTa Without objection, the document 

25 is admitted into evidence as Reapondent•a Exhibit 32. 
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1 (Reapondent•a Exhibit 32 

2 received into evidence.) 

3 U. rCOWJ)DYs I'd like to have marked for 

4 identification -- no, I don't want to have anything 

5 ~rked tor identification at this time. Excuae me. 

6 Q c-r lla. COWclery) Okay. Mr. Troy, were you 

7 in olved in the events of September 13th, 1996, 

8 reqardinq Mother's Kitchen? 

9 & Yes . 

10 Q How were you involved? 
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1.1 & I had received phone calls that morning from 

12 Diane and one from Mr. Brooks. 

13 Q Okay. Would you explain what happened that 

14 morning aa tar aa your involvement goes, to the beat 

15 of your recollection? 

16 Yea . on September 13th, 1996 , it was 

17 approximately, I'm qtiessing, at 9:30 i n the morning I 

18 got a call from Diane Keitt -- she's our office 

19 manager, Sanford office saying she had an upset 

20 customer. And she gave me some particulars about the 

21 account . Gave me an account number . 

22 I pulled it up on my screen. It was the 

23 Alfred Byrd d/b/a Mother's Kitchen account. She had 

24 said that Mr. Brooks of the account was upaet and 

25 possibly would be giving me a call. She told me it 
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1 had been shut ott tor nonpaid. That he had come in, 

2 made payaent the previous day. That she had already 

3 dispatched a man out to turn it bac k on. 

4 Earlier that morning, the customer of 

5 record, Alfred Byrd, had come into the office and 

6 asked that the account be turned ott in his name. 

7 Meaning be waa the customer ot record, he has the 

8 right to do that. So we contacted Mr. Brooks. A 
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9 message was given to our serviceman to have him call 

10 into the office. And Diane said he was very upset, Al 

11 Byrd coming in and having that account turned ott, and 

12 Mr. Brooks having to come in and set up a new account 

13 and paying a deposit. I possibly would be getting a 

14 call from him. 

15 Q Mr. Troy, do you remember it Ms. Keitt told 

16 you who made at $261.04 payment? Do you remember if 

17 she said who made it? 

18 A No. She told me it was made. Probably on 

19 the screen it showed it being made, too, by that time, 

20 but she told me it was made by -- well, I don 't know 

21 who. Just said Mother's Kitchen personnel / somebody 

22 came in and made the payment. And the gas was to be 

23 turned on first call that morning . 

24 Q I• that all that you can recall regarding 

25 what Ms. Keitt told you on the phone? 
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1 

2 

3 

& 

Q 

& 

That's about it, yes. 

Okay . So what did you do next? 

I was standing by. I figured I might be 

4 getting a call from -- on the Kother 1 s Kitchen 
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5 account. And I did get a call from Mr. Brooks shortly 

6 afterward, aaybe five, ten minutes. And he was very 

7 upset. 

8 

9 

Q 

& 

What was upsetting him? 

I think it was the Al Byrd insistance that 

10 the account be turned off. "How could Al Byrd do 

~1 this?" That he would have to go in and make a deposit 

12 on the account. 

13 Q Do you recall him talking about being upset 

14 about having to do that? Do you recall that 

15 specifically? 

16 A Right. Right. 

17 

18 

Q 

A 

What else do you remember? 

I told him that the man had come i n. That 

19 the account would have to be changed over. He was a 

20 customer of record. That Mr. Brooks -- I told him, 

21 Mr. Brooks , he would have to qo in the office and give 

22 the i nformation to change the account over to the 

23 proper name and make the deposit. 

24 Q Okay. What else happened? 

25 About that time -- the serviceman must have 
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1 been on location, because about that time Mr. Brooks 

2 told me that the serviceman now aaya there's a leak on 

3 the account . He waa very upset about that . He was to 

4 the point of screaming, yelling at me that "something 

5 is wrong here." The 1113n ' s been messing around with 

6 the front of his range -- taking the range apart. 

7 "~his shouldn't have been necessary. The range was 

8 working tine before they turned ott the gas. How 

9 coul d it be having a leak problem now? The man is 

10 messing with it and possibly caused the leak." 

11 I told him it there's a leak on the 

12 appliance, for us to leave the gas on we would have to 

13 fix the leak. I think he said, "Well, fix i t then." 

14 He was getting pretty abusive. He said fix that. I 

15 told him he would have to authorize the repair. He 

16 would have to pay fo~ it. And I also told him that 

17 the Sanford office might require cash because ~ had 

18 the account up; there was two bad checks on the 

19 account. 

20 He was extremely abusive about that. He 

21 felt that we should fix it. He started telling me 

22 about food that he had prepared to cook; that range 

23 had to be working. He would lose money. And he would 

24 sue us tor lost busineaa, and slaamed down the 

25 receiver. Hung up on me. Extremely i rritated. 
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1 

2 

Q 

.a 

And what was your next involvement? 

A short ttae later, it probably waa just a 

3 matter ot minutes, probably close to ten o'clock now, 

4 I qot a call fro• Diane. She was brinqinq •e 

5 up-to-date what happened there. 

6 She had McDaniel poaaibly on the radio -- I 

7 don't thi,lk she had bia on the phone -- it waa not a 

8 three-way converaation. I waa juat talkinq to Diane. 

9 But McDaniel had brought her up-to-dat e on what 
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10 happened . The stove was not repaired. Mr. Brooks was 

11 not signing anything. 

12 Q Did ahe tell you that Mr. McDaniel told .1er 

13 that? 

14 A Yeah. She had no way ot knowing. She was 

15 getting the information from Bill McDaniel. 

16 Q And she told you that? 

17 A Riqbt. That the leak had not been repa i red. 

18 And Brooks was not siqni nq anything. What he was 

19 required to sign would be a service order to repair 

2 0 the range and also a -- aince the range was repai red, 

21 a Hazardous Condition Report. 

2 2 

23 

Q 

A 

Why did she call you? 

She waan•t aure what to do becauae ot che 

24 problem -- the abuse that both McDaniel -- both that 

2 5 s he had received and McDaniel had received trom 
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1 Mr. Broou. She wasn • t sure what to do about the 

2 account. 

3 

4 

Q 

A 

What happened next in the phone call? 

I told her if that was the situation, we 

5 best lock the meter, or turn t he meter off and lock 

6 it. She said okay. We will do that. I quesa she 

7 gave that inforaation to Bill McDaniel and he did the 

8 same, I believe -- all I know i s at th.at point he did 

9 turn off the meter and lock it and left . 

10 Q Did you talk to anybody about the Mother's 

~1 Kitchen account any more that day? 

12 A Yes. Diane called me later that day and 
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13 told me Mr. Brooks had been in the office and wanted 

14 his $261.04 back since we had not turned the account 

15 on. And she just told him she could not give it back. 

16 Money was due on the account for gas service . 

17 

18 

Q 

A 

She told you that she told him that? 

She told me that she told him she would not 

19 give him the money back; that the money was due on the 

20 account. And he said she said that he had a tape 

21 recorder with him and told her he was taping ali of 

22 tbia, and he left. 

23 Q Okay. At any time during that conversation 

24 with Mr. Brooks, did Mr. Brooks tell you that he had 

25 already paid a new deposit to have the account taken 
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1 out of Alfred Byrd's name? 

2 A No. 

3 Q Did he mention anything about having paid a 

4 deposit? 

5 A No. 

6 Q Why did you decide to have the gas turned 

7 off and locked? 

8 A The abusive nature of Mr. Brooks. He acted 

9 very irrational; yelling , acreaainq. Blaming us tor 

10 causing the leak: messing with the range. It was just 

~1 as though he did not believe there was a leak on the . 

12 range. And for safety reasons -- he also had 

13 threatened to sue us. For safety reasons, I ordered 

14 them to leave the gas oft. 

15 What do you mean "for safety reasons"? What 

16 was the problem? 

17 A Even though the range was disconnected, it 

18 could have been connected fairly easy by somebody that 

19 possibly didn't believe there was a leak. 

20 Q By that you mean --

21 

22 

A 

Q 

Put it back in service. 

Did you think there was a possibility that 

23 somebody from Mother's Kitchen could have reconnected 

2 4 the range? 

25 A Wben I reflect back on his state of mind, I 
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1 thought this waa a poaaibilit:y, that they would 

2 reconnect the range and proceed with business. 

3 Q Okay. In your mind did you believe that 

4 this account was in any way hazardoua or dangerous if 

5 you bad left the gas on? 

6 A Yea. Because if the range was reconnected, 

7 it would have been very dangerous to Mr. Brooks, his 

8 employees and any customers that were in the 

9 restaurant. It did present a present danger. When 

10 you ta.ke into consideration his frame of mind and his 

11 attitude at the time towards the leak, it's just as 

12 though he didn't accept it. 

13 Q Okay. Was the gas at Mother's Kitchen 

14 disconnected having anything to do with Mr. Byrd's 

15 request to have the gas disconnected? 

16 A No. I understood that Mr. Byrd wanted the 
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17 account off of his name, but it's only reasonable that 

18 we give time for -- the people that are operating the 

19 business, in this. case there were people who were 

20 going to continue operating the business, to come in, 

21 give us the new name on the account and put up the 

22 deposit. So it would not have been turnad off because 

23 Mr. Byrd requested it be turned off at that date. 

24 We'd give them a reasonable time to come in. 

25 Q And it could have been turned off for that 
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1 reason in the future? 

2 

3 

& 

0 

In the future, yes. 

And at this point, what was the date that 

4 the Mother ' s Kitchen tolks were allowed to come in 

5 with a new deposit? 

6 They were qiven a period ot time to come in 

7 with a new deposit by Diane . Whether I knew it at 

8 that time I'm not sure. At the time ot the telephone 

9 call, I'm not sure whether I knew it. I can't 

10 reaeaber it she told me ahe had qiven them so many 

11 days. But it's standard business procedure tor us to 

12 give people that are operating the entity some time to 

13 come in. 

14 0 Is there a rule requireaent to that ettect? 

15 & ~ believe there would be a three-day notice 

16 to that effect. 

17 0 Okay. Kr. Troy, after September 13th, when 

18 was the next time anybody contacted you about the 

19 Alfred Byrd d/b/ a Mother'• Kitchen account? 

20 & It had to be when I qot a complaint from the 

21 Public Service Commission. They taxed ce a complaint. 

22 I believe it was on the 17th. 

23 xa. oowoaaYa I'd like to have marked tor 

24 identification the PPSC Conaumer Request form and the 

25 9-19-96 r esponse . This is Polder 24. 
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1 'I'D COOT: OocWient ia being marked tor 

2 i dentification aa Reapondent•a Exhibit s. 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

Q (87 lla. COWdery) Do you recognize the 

firat page of this, enti tled "Conauaer Requeat"? 

& Yea. Thia ia the co•plaint filed with the 

Public Service commission dated September 17th, 1996, 

by Mother•• Kitchen restaurant. 

Q Okay. Do you know where thia -- where did 

this docuaent come froa? 

Public Service Commiaaion. 
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10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

Q Okay. And do you aee the information t hat ' s 

typed on the first page that aaya "See attached 

responae dated 9-19-96. " Do you know who typed that? 

& Y .. , we did. The Company did. 

Q 

16 responded? 

17 

18 

A 

0 

Okay. Is the attached response how you 

Yes. 

Okay. Now, when you received this 

19 response -- I mean when you received this complaint, 

20 was there any allegation of any wrongdoing having to 

21 do with a depoait? 

22 A There was nothing on this complaint about a 

23 deposit . 

24 0 Okay. And waa that conaiatent with your 

25 involvement on September 13th? 
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1 

2 

& 

Q 

Yes. 

Okay. Then in neither case did anybody say 

3 anythinq to you about a new account havinq been set 

4 up? 

5 

6 

7 

& 

Q 

~iqht . 

Okay. 

u. COWDDYI I would like t o have this 

8 entered as Respondent's 33. 

9 Ma. 1100&11 No objecti on, Your Honor. 

10 'I'D CO~I Without objection, the document 

~1 is admitted into evidence as Respondent •• Exhibit 33. 

12 (Respondent's Exhi bit 33 

13 received into evidence.) 

14 Q (By lla. Cowdery) Okay . Di d you handle 

15 thia complaint before the Florida Public Service 

16 Commission youraelf? 

Yes. 
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17 

18 

19 

A 

Q 

& 

And what did your involvement conaiat of? 

Reapondinq to Commiaaion i nquiriea about the 

20 complaint and reapondinq to a letter Mr . Brooks had 

21 written either to myaelf or the Commiaaion concerning 

22 the complaint. 

23 Q Okay. Now, Mr. Troy, you showed ua a l ot of 

24 document• from the Company. Some of them are computer 

25 docuaenta and 20-day cycle• and billinq reqi•tera . 
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l And a nuaber of thea abow inforaation of a 8-28-97 

2 payment entry of $521.72. 

3 My question ia when was the firat time that 

4 the coapany aupplied information about a payment entry 

5 of 521.72 to Mr. Brooke, or anyone from Mother•• 

6 Kitchen? 

7 It would have been at the first informal 

8 conference in Orlando in -- I believe, it was February 

9 24th, 1997. 

10 

~1 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

Q Okay. And to the beat of your rec~llection , 

before that informal staff conference, that 

information had not been supplied to Mr. Brooks? 

A Not by my office, no. 

0 Okay. Now, at that February 24th, 1997, 

informal staff meeting -- well, first let me ask, what 

was the purpose of that meeting? 

& It was -~ Mr. Brooks had requested an 

informal conference with the Florida Public Utilities 

and the Florida Public Service commission trying to 

resolve the complaint . So they set it up for a 

meeting in Orlando on February 24th, get the parties 

together, a videoconference to resolve the matter. 

0 And who wae participating from Tallahassee 

24 by video? 

25 a That waa John Plescow and a Mr. Raspberry. 
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1 Q Okay. And to the beat of your recollection 

2 who was together in Orlando participating? 

3 Mr. Brooks an(S some of his eaployees from 

4 Mother's Kitchen, or partners from Mother's Jtitchen, 

5 and myself . And we bad some of our employees there 

6 that were involved in the coaplaint. 

7 Q Okay. 

8 · 'I'D COVJt'f I Ma. Cowdery, I . know there hasn't 

9 been an objection, but how is this going to be 

~ 
relevant? this is a (Se novo proceed!ng, and # 10 I mean, . 

1.1 what happened at an --

12 K8. COWDD1' 1 Correct. 

13 '1'BB co~a -- inforaal staff conference --

14 118. COWDD'fa What I'm attempting to show is 

15 when -- okay. 

16 Mr. Brooks is alleging as part of his 

17 complaint that on July 11th of 1996, he came to 

18 Florida Public Utilities and gave a $500 deposit to 

19 set up a new account. I have shown, attempted to show 

20 through the testimony and through the recorda, that 

21 during that ttae period that never happened. 

22 Now, what I'm additionally showing are facts 

23 and testimony and admissions by Mr. Brooks that not 

24 only did that not occur, that Mr. Brooks never even 

25 raised that as an argument until after he was given 
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2 payment. And that when first -- the testimony would 

433 

3 show that when -- that that payment was discussed, and 

4 that Mr. Brooks, even at that point, never said that a 

5 deposit had been made, even though it is an admission. 

6 And that the first time that that argument was ever 

7 even raised was on May 6th, 1997, before the Florida 

8 Public Service Commission at an agenda confe rence. 

9 That's the first time Mr. Brooks ever even raised that 

10 argument. 

11 The reason I'm pursuing this, not only the 

12 s ubstance of this argument, to show that Mr. Brooks' 

13 case - - he's not proving his case, I've also fi led a 

14 otion tor attorney tees; that this case was brought 

15 for improper purpose . And I think that additionally 

16 goes to show the improper purpose behind Mr. Brooks' 

17 case. 

18 These are admissions of Mr. Brooks that a re 

19 allowed to come into a case like this as substantive 

20 evidence. 

Mr. Brooks, a response? 21 

22 

TBB COUJlT a 

IIJl. BROOUa Sir , I would raise an objection 

23 to Ms . Cowdery's assertions as far as to what s he has 

24 proven. 

25 Secondly, with regard to her bringing in the 
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1 Public service commission, bringing this de novo, all 

2 we have to do is go to her last exhibit. And in the 

3 body of that laat eXhibit, if you look at the text to 

4 which she waa questioning Mr. Troy about, there's a 

5 sentence in here, and it saya "to show that the 

6 tuaineas waa a partnership. Then, after service was 

7 interrupted for the second time due to past-due bills, 

8 employeea paid --" and this is Mr. Martin's reference 

9 to that deposit, the assertion that the deposit was 

10 paid in full. 

11 Now, this document should not even -- per 

12 the Court's order at the initial hearing we had in 

13 this case, the Court made the ruling that this was to 

14 be a de novo case. As a matter of fact, the Court 

15 asserted it to me to -- directed at me, that this was 

16 to be a de novo case. And anything during that public 

17 service proceedings, prior to the initiation of this 

18 petition, would not be admissible in this proceeding . 

19 Now, it was done to me, direc ted to me, at 

20 Ms. Cowdery's insistence, in a objection she was 

21 making. so now she can not turn around and have it be 

22 her way because she simply feels the need to qo 

23 towarda the old proceedings under the PSC. The PSC's 

24 documentation. 

25 TD couaTa Further response? 
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2 we're having the hearing anew. And in a de novo that 

3 means any conclusions reached by the Public Service 
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4 Commission has no meaning here. Any conclusions they 

5 come to do not matter because we're trying it anew, in 

6 tront ot the Administrative Law Judge. However, does 

7 that mean it Mr. Brooks made admissions ot tact that I 

8 can use to prove my case that I shouldn't be allowed 

9 to use them? 

10 I am not claiming here that at the -- that 

11 the Florida Public Service Commission reached any 

12 particular conclusion, and, therefore, we are bound by 

13 it. I am not stating that. I'm not stating they've 

14 done an investigation that we should be bound by. I'm 

15 simply proving tact•. I •m proving through admissions. 

16 And the testimony that I am trying to elicit here 

17 would be considered substantive, allowable under 

18 90.8039 (18) ot the Evidence Code, regarding a 

19 statement that i• offered against a party, which is 

20 what I would be doing; aqain•t Mr. Brook•, against the 

21 Petitioner's. A statement of which the party has 

22 manite•ted hi• adoption tor belief in the truth. 

23 Actually, it'• the party'• own •tatement in either an 

24 individual or repre•entative capacity. And an 

25 admission like thi• ot a party opponent i• admi••ible. 
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1 Now, even it that were not the caae, it we 

2 said it's in the admission and I truly believe it was 

3 an admission, under 120 we 're allowed to have hearaay 

4 in support of othar testimony. But I don't think we 

5 have to go there. I think we've qot adaiaaiona. You 

6 can't -- don't have to ignore admiaa iona. And that is 

7 why I'm arguing it. 

8 De novo doesn't mean these aa artificial 

9 barriers eracted at a certain point of time. It means 

10 I can not tell you to rely on a concluaion of the 

11 agency. So I'm not trying to do that. All I ' m trying 

12 to do is show adaisaiona by Mr. Brooks. 

13 ~ OO~a Mr. Keating, any response or 

14 comment? 

15 MR. ~X.Gr I don't know that I have a lot 

16 to add. I know that 

17 'I'D 00~1 Well, the question is -- the 

18 only issue that I 'm concerned about is, assuming the 

19 direction she's going is seeking an admission against 

20 interest as an exception under the Florida Evidence 

21 Code - - if she can elicit such, that's the directio~ 

22 she's going from this witneaa -- whether that ' • 

23 appropriate or not. 

24 MR. Ka&~X.Qa I queas I don ' t have anything 

25 to add on that specific question then. 
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1 IJ.'D COVR!'I Okay . Mr. Brooka, was there 

2 something else? Very briefly. 

3 D. a.ooa a Yes, sir . In order -- pursuant 

4 to that rule under the Evidence Code, in order tor 

5 Ms. Cowdery to make the claim ot adaiaaions, abe has 

6 to show a specific -- specific statements to which she 

7 is seeking entry under t .hia section. 

8 Now, Ma. Cow~ery has sat there through this 

9 long diatribe with Mr. Troy here, and she's malting 

10 she's made wholesale assertions. Mr. Troy -- even the 

~1 testimony so tar has been a whole lot ot references to 

12 things that other parties have done with no 

13 substantiating documentation or testimony ot record 

14 from those other parties to show they actually did 

15 those things. 

16 But her at~empt at so-called admissions by 

17 myself, before the .Public Service Commission --during 

18 the time before the Public Service Commission I was 

19 never designated as a representative of the 

20 partnership. Durinq the time before the Public 

21 Service commission, in the prehearinq meetings in 

22 Orlando here, I did act as spokesman, relaying the 

23 feelings and expressions of the partnership as a 

24 whole. But at no juncture or at any point during any 

25 of those proceedings were there any sworn proceedings 
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1 taken, or any direct court reporting, or any other 

2 docuaentation done to set out the particular 

3 concrete particular atateaenta made by any individual 

4 durinq that entire proceedinq. Portions ot the 

5 proceeding were recorded, I believe, in a couple ot 

6 .Lnatancea on tape. soae ot the proceedinqa I don't 

7 believe were. I could be aiataken about that, but I 

8 don't believe were baaed upon the way the 

9 conversations went. 

10 But tor her to make reference to admissions 

~1 by ae, she has to address specific -- specific 

12 admissions by me. And in referring to Respondent's 

13 Exhibit 33, which she has stated she presented these 

14 exhibits as Mr. Troy's testimony in a attempt to reach 

15 those admissions, this Exhibit 33 shows that the 

16 conclusion she was drawing is incorrect. Because it 

17 states right here that there was reference to a 

18 deposit and that it was paid i~ full. 

19 MS. COWD.RY& Your Honor , may I have --

20 ~ COURT& We're not going to go back and 

2 1 forth anymore . We're done . 

22 On this -- I can' t see how this can be an 

2 3 admission aqainst interest exception. 

24 ... COWD .. YI Your Honor, we need to clarity 

25 that. 
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1 r&a 00~1 I'll allow it aa a proffer. 

2 K8. COWD .. Ya I'm not look tor a declaration 

3 against interest, that's what I need to clarify -- but 

4 as an adaission of a party opponent. Okay. Admission 

5 ot a party opponent. 

6 I have also given you a case, I think it's 

7 in your packet, Bunt vs Seaboard coastline Railroad 

8 company. I know I'm getting an extra little shot 

9 her , and I know you didn't intend that -- we 'll allow 

10 as a proffer -- it is t or an admission of a party 

11 opponent's statement. Not a declaration against 

!2 interest which requires a foundation be laid. I'm not 

13 going that way. I'm going admissions under 

14 90.803(18)(A). That's Hunt vs Seaboard Coastline 

15 Railroad distinguishes declaration against interests 

16 which relate to nonparties and admissi ons which relate 

17 to parties. 

18 TBB COURT& You may offer it as a proffer. 

19 

20 Q 

liS. COWDDY& Thank you, Your Honor. 

(By ... COW4ery) Mr. Troy, we were talking 

21 about the February 24th, 1997, informal staff 

22 conference. Okay. Now, at the February 24th, 1997, 

23 informal staff meeting, did you discuss the Mother's 

24 Kitchen payment history? 

25 A Yes. 
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1 Q Okay. Now, did Florida Public Utilities 

2 provide any information, any written information? 

3 A We did provide written information of the 

4 transaction• on the account. 

5 Q Okay. In what format was it? 

6 ~ There is a computer printout which showed 

7 all of the payaenta, and -- there was a narrative that 

8 I sent to Mr. Pleacow, I believe. I believe you might 

9 have that available too. A computer printout. 

10 ~ RIPOar&aa Could we qet the witness a 

11 little closer to the mike? 

12 'I'D COUR~I Juat a moment. Mr. Troy, would 

13 you lean -- you're leaning way back there. We need to 

14 hear you a little better. Thank you. 

15 JIB. COWDDY: Does he need to repeat that 

16 for the court reporter? 

17 

18 

'I'D COO'R'l' I No. 

Q (By ... COwdery) Okay. Was the $521.72 

19 payment entry reported on Auqust 28th discussed at the 

20 February 24th, 1997, informal staff conference? 

21 & Yes. 

22 Q At that time <1i<1 Mr. Brooks make any 

23 allegation that the $521.72, or $500 of that amount, 

2 4 ha<1 been pai<1 as a <1eposit? 

25 A No. 
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1 

2 

Q 

& 

Did he aake a.ny statement about the $521. 72? 

The statement that he didn't understand what 

3 that payaent was,. what it was all about. There was a 

4 record in there of a payme.nt and he didn't understand 

. 5 it. 

6 Q Okay. And did Ms. Keitt -- I'm sorry, 

., strike that. 

8 Did anyone from the company respond to 

9 Mr. Brooks? 

10 Diane Keitt, who understood about the 

~1 payment, responded that it was a compilation of 

12 payments. In other words, it was more than one 

13 payment. 

14 

15 

16 

Q 

A 

Q 

Did Hr. Brooks respond? 

Not that I remember, no. 

Did he make a statement that that was a 

17 deposit? 

18 

19 

No. 

lUI. C011DBRYI Okay. Now, at this time I 

20 would like to make another proffer, Your Honor. 

21 I would like to make a proffer of a 

22 transcript of the Florida Public Service Commission 

23 informal staff conference of February 24th, 1997. 

24 can identify the certain pages, and I will do eo, 

25 where Mr. Brooke made adJiissiona. However, I will 
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1 proffer the wbole thing, you know, ao that nothing can 

2 be said to bave been taken out of context. I have 

3 included this transcript in your packet. For the 

4 record --

5 ~ COUR!a Thia will only be aa a proffer. 

6 Ma. COWDaaYa Correct. As a proffer. Well, 

7 I guess I need to -- I need to go through the steps 

8 here. 

9 I would like to offer it as an exhibit, as 

10 an admission by Mr. Brooks with regard to what 

11 Mr. Troy haa testified. I think this transcript 

12 shows, and I can identify the pages that -- I have to 

13 find the pages. 

14 on pages, apecifically, 42 to 43, in 

15 discussing payment history, the $521.72 payment was 

16 discussed. Ms. Keitt's response. And that Mr. Brooks 

17 did not in any way challenge that. 

18 The other reason I want to put the entire 

19 document in is because of the tact that nowhere in 

20 here, nowhere at the conference did Mr. Brooks talk 

21 about setting up a new deposit. And I take that as a 

22 tacit admission. In addition 

2 3 

24 

TD COtJJl'l'l Yes. 

K8. COWDaaYz now, I have aeveral more 

25 questions for Hr. Troy, and again -- rather than going 
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443 

3 There are three other adaiaaions within this 

4 transcript, which Mr. Troy can testify about. And I 

5 don't know, I've asked the court it I should just 

6 addr~ss this all at once. 

7 '1'101 COD!': Address it all at once. 

a u. COII'DI&Yc Okay. Let • • <So that then. 

9 O~y. 

10 Q (By .. • Ccnr4ery) Mr. Troy, at that 

11 February 24th staff conference do you recall 

12 Mr. Brooks talking about the events of September 13th? 

13 A Yes. 

14 Q Okay. Do you recall whether or not he said 

15 that he called Diane Keitt at the Florida Public 

16 Utilities office the morning ot September 13th? 

17 A He called Diane Keitt, yes. 

18 Q 

19 Keitt? 

20 

21 

A 

Q 

Do you remember if he said he called Diane 

Yea. 

Okay. And that ia on Pages 8 through 10 of 

22 the transcript. 

23 M8. oowo•aYs And I don't give line numbers 

24 because it's a rolling narrative, and it's too 

25 difficult to specifically cut it -- put -- you know, 
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1 narrow it down. But he aaya in there he did call 

2 Diane and he keepa referencing Diane Keitt, okay? 

3 Q (ay X.. Cowdery) Mr. Troy, do you recall 

4 the converaation during that ataff conference where 

5 the payment history of the Mother's Kitchen account 

6 waa discussed? 

7 

8 

a 

Q 

Yes. 

Do you recall Mr. Brooks admitting that a 

9 payment of $231.72 waa made? 

10 Yea. He aaid he had made good on the bad 

~1 check that was issued to us by Al Byrd, 211.72, and 

12 there was a service charqe attached to it. 
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13 Q Okay. Do you reaeaber any particulars about 

14 anything he said about the date of when he paid that? 

15 a I don't think it was an agree~.nt with our 

16 schedule here. He might have said it was paid at a 

17 different time, but he did say he made good on that 

18 check of 211.72; went in the office and made the 

19 payment on it. 

20 I don't remember the particulars or anything 

21 when he said it was made. 

22 Q 

23 check? 

24 A 

25 Q 

But you remember he said he made good on the 

Yea. 

Okay. And that would be found on Paqe 36 of 
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1 this transcript of February 24 . Okay . 

2 Now, my last question is whet her or not you 

3 recall if Mr. Brooks discussed making a payment o f 

4 $160 . Do you remember that offhand? 

5 a He was relating all of his payments -- he 

6 had had receipts or -- looking at our s chedule , he was 

7 relating a lot of the payments about the 160? I 

8 can't say tor sure about that. 

9 ... COWD&RY& At this time I would like to 

10 let Mr. Troy review this transcript to r efresh his 

11 recollection. And he understands if it doesn't 

12 refresh his recollection, that he will let us know. 

13 'tD COUJt41'1 Go ahead. {Pause) 

14 I've read it over I don ' t know that I can 

15 say for sure that I recollect 160. 

16 

17 

18 

19 

Q 

A 

Q 

That's tine . 

It's not ...... 

That's fine. 

Ka. OOWDBRYa I would like to have the 

20 information on Pages 6 and 7 of this transcript 

21 separate and apart from the testimony of Mr. Troy also 

22 identified as an admission, this written documen~, 

23 this tranacript, also identified as an admission, 

24 notwithatandin9 Mr. Troy•• inability to remember t l at 

25 conversation . This document I'm offering into 
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1 evidence as an admission on the varioua matter• I have 

2 brouqht up. 

3 '1'1111 COUJt'l'a The transcript of the informal 

4 staff conference of February 24th, 1997, I've marked 

5 for identification a s Respondent's Exhibit T, and the 

6 particular pages noted reqardinq the admissions. But 

7 I'm denying tbe request for it to be admitted in 

8 evidence. It's a proffer . It's in the record as 

9 cucb. But I don't believe it meets the exception 

10 under the Evidence Code that you referred to as an 

1.1 admiasion. 

12 Jl8. COWDBRY: Okay. Now, looking at the 

13 Hunt vs Seaboard case, whioh I have referred to you, I 

14 understand that a document not admitted on one basis, 

15 may yet to be admitted on another basis. And in this 

16 regard, I would also ask that the court to recognize 

17 that under Chapter 120, that hearsay is admiaaible to 

18 supplement -- hearsay is admissible to suppl ement 

19 other testimony in the record. 

20 I think all of the information in here goes 

21 to supplementing testimony which Florida Public 

22 Utilities company has offered in the record, and on 

23 that basis I would also ask for it to be admitted as 

24 hearsay under 120, notwithstanding the fact that I 

25 would brief the issue of the proffer and i ts 
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1 availability as actual substantive evidence. 

2 I would aak that it be allowed under the 120 

3 allowance that hearsay is admissible in OOAH 

4 proceeclinga. 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

J..l 

12 

13 

14 

15 

TBB CO~z I don't believe it meets that 

standard either . I'll deny admission . 

Q (By .. • Cowclery) Okay. Mr. Troy, when was 

the first time that you had heard an allegation from 

Mother's Kitchen that it had paid a deposit of $500 or 

more to set up a new account? 

A It was from the recording, or tranacript, 

from the May agenda conference. 

Q Okay. Did you attend the May agenda 

conference? 

I attended the May agenda conference. When 

16 the item came up tor discussion and vote, Mr. Brooks 

17 wasn't present. The Commissioners voted in favor of 

18 the staff recommendation that the Company had done --

19 violated no rules. I hung around tor a few minutes 

20 and lett. Later that day Mr. Brooks did show up, ask 

21 to address the Commission . 

22 

23 

Q 

A 

How did you find that out? 

One ot the staff members called me. They 

24 called the office. 

25 Q And what was the purpose tor them calling 
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1 you? 

2 To let me know that Mr. Brooks had come in 

3 and had teatitied; had spoken to the commissioners. 

4 Q Did atatt want you to do anythinq? 

5 A They said he had brought up aoae new claims 

6 or ohargea, and that I needed to respond to it . And 

7 that they did t .ape it and that I could qet a tape ot 

8 it, which I did. I liatened to the tape. I had one 

9 ot our secretaries transcribe the tape. And on that 

10 tape Mr. Brooks had stated that he made a deposit of 

1.1 $500 to the COllllliasioners. 

12 Q Was that the tirst time you had ever heard 

13 that alleqation? 

14 A That was the first time I had hearrl about a 

15 $500 deposit beinq aade to the Company. 

16 Q Okay. 

17 MS. cowo•aYa I 'd like to have marked tor 

18 identification Tariffs of Florida Public Utilities 

19 Company. It's marked as Folder 43 . 

20 ~ CO~I I'll mark it tor identification 

21 a s Respondent•• Exhibit u. 

22 Q (By Ms. Cowdery) Mr. Troy, do you 

23 recoqniza these tariffs? 

24 A Yes . 

25 Q would you tell us what these taritts are? 
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1 Th••• are operatinq tariffa . Theae are on 

2 tile with the Florida Public Service Coamiaaion. 

3 Every page ia approved by the Public service 

4 ca.aiaaion. Thea• pages that are before me deal with 

5 cuatoaer deposita, billing, collecting and 

6 discontinuance ot service. 

7 Q Okay. on sheet No. 8 does that ahow a 

8 service classification that applies to the Mother's 

9 Kitchen account? 

10 

],1 

12 

13 

14 

Yea. It would be 02, coamercial service. 

D. BltOOUs What page waa that? 

U. COWDDYa Tariff sheet 8. 

D. BltOOUI First page? 

u. COWDKRYa Firat page, yea. t t•s 

15 entitled "Firat Revised Sheet No. 8." 

16 0 (By Ka. ~4ery) So do these tariffs apply 

17 to any activities that you had to do with Alfred Byrd 

18 d/b/ a Mother's Kitchen account? 

19 

20 

A 

Q 

Yes. 

Okay . 

21 u. COWDBAYa Bxcuae me one minute. I 'm 

22 trying tor find something. (Pause) 

23 Q (B7 .. • COW4ezy) Mr. Troy, would you turn 

24 to the tariff abeet entitled "Firat Revised Sheet 

25 No. 19" under the Rules and Regulations. 
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1 Okay . 

2 Q Would you read into the record Tariff 

3 Paragraph 13(A)(l). 

4 13 is "Discontinuance ot service. The 

5 Company reserves the right , but assumes no liability 

6 tor failure to do so, to discontinue service to any 

7 customer tor cause as follows: A) Without notice . " 

8 And (1) says "If a dangerous condition exists on 

9 customer premises in piping or gas consuming devices." 

10 Q Okay. Now, in this case was -- on September 

~1 13th were you familiar with whether or not any notice 

12 was left with Mother's Kitchen regarding the 

13 disconnect? 

14 

15 

16 

17 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A hazardous condition notice. 

Is that considered a form of notice? 

Yea. 

Okay. But under this particular 13(A)(l) , 

18 do you think technically that this provision would 

19 apply to tho i ncident on September 13th? 

20 A Yes . 

Okay. 21 

22 

Q 

A The "without notice" there, if that's what 

23 you're concerned about, means a time delay notice of 

2 4 we're going to disconnect i n tive days, you know, 

25 unless you tix this, or three days, or someth~~g like 

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 



451 

1 that. There are certain conditions which require a 

2 notice. But tboee that are required -- are without 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

notice are the ones I just wrote in red there, "if a 

dan.qerous condition exists at the customer premises in 

pipinq or gas consumin9 devices" you don't have to 

leave a notice. 

Q Okay. You're right . 

Do you believe that Florida Public Util ities 

Company's actions with regard to the Alfred Byrd d/ b/a 

Mother's Kitchen account were in conformance with 

these tariffs? 

A 

Q 

Yes . 

Okay . Did the Company keep records which 

14 show the name of the customer who made the deposit? 

15 A Yes. The deposit receipt record. 

16 Q Okay. After the Alfred Byrd d/b/a Mother's 

17 Kitchen account was established , did FPUC ever recei ve 

18 a deposit of anyone on behalf of Mother's Kitchen to 

19 set up a new account? 

20 

21 

22 mean? 

23 

A 

Q 

No. 

What does the term "customer of record" 

This shows in our records the customer that 

24 is assigned to that account, that belonqed to that 

25 account; official customer for that account. It also 
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2 turn-otts tor that account. 
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3 Q Okay. Why would an individual be treated as 

4 a customer of record on a commercial account? 

5 It an individual comes in, sets up the 

6 account, says "This is bow I want it set up." We will 

7 put it in the individual's name. 

8 Q Is it your understanding that that's what 

9 happened in this caae? 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

an 

is 

the 

as, 

That's ~y understanding. A 

Q Okay. When is a "d/b/a" designation used on 

account? 

A When a business account, commercial account, 

set up in an individual's name, we nee~ to identify 

business and we'll put a "d/b/a," doinq business 

and list the name ot the business tor 

identitication purposes. 

Q Okay. Was the Alfred Byrd d/b/a Mother's 

19 Kitchen account set up consistent with these 

20 principles? 

21 

22 

A 

Q 

Yes. 

Are there other accounts that are set up in 

23 this manner? 

24 

25 

A 

Q 

Yea. 

Okay. 
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1 Ma. cowoa.Ya I have no further queationa at 

2 this time. 

3 !'D COOHt Okay . Thank you. Did you wish 

4 to offer the tariffs? 

5 MS. COWDIRY: I do, yes. I'd like to have 

6 those identified. 

7 !'D COOH: It's been marked! for 

8 identif ication aa u. 

9 MS. cowo•RYt Yes, to enter into the record 

10 as Respondent '• 34, I think. 

11 

12 

13 

!'D COOR'l't Any objection , Mr . Brooks? 

D. BJIOOUt No, sir. 

I!'D COOR'l't Without objection, the document 

14 is admitte~ into evidence as Respondent's Exhibit 34 . 

15 (Respondent's Exhibit 34 

16 r eceived into evidence .) 

17 lfJIB COOR'l': All riqht. Okay. We' 11 take a 

18 ten- minute recess at this time . 

19 (Brief recess taken . ) 

20 - - - - -

21 (Transcript continues in sequence i n 

22 Volume 4.) 

2 3 - - - - -

24 

25 
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